PAPER

Design and sensitivity of the Radio Neutrino Observatory in Greenland (RNO-G)

To cite this article: J.A. Aguilar et al 2021 JINST 16 P03025

View the article online for updates and enhancements.



You may also like

- THE INTERMEDIATE-MASS STAR-FORMING REGION LYNDS 1340. AN OPTICAL VIEW Mária Kun, Attila Moór, Elza Szegedi-Elek et al.
- <u>Measuring Optical Extinction toward</u> <u>Young Stellar Objects Using Diffuse</u> <u>Interstellar Bands</u> Adolfo S. Carvalho and Lynne A. Hillenbrand
- <u>The JCMT BISTRO Survey: Studying the</u> <u>Complex Magnetic Field of L43</u> Janik Karoly, Derek Ward-Thompson, Kate Pattle et al.





DISCOVER how sustainability intersects with electrochemistry & solid state science research



This content was downloaded from IP address 18.118.102.225 on 02/05/2024 at 15:12



RECEIVED: *October 27, 2020* ACCEPTED: *January 18, 2021* PUBLISHED: *March 15, 2021*

Design and sensitivity of the Radio Neutrino Observatory in Greenland (RNO-G)

J.A. Aguilar, ¹ P. Allison, ² J.J. Beatty, ² H. Bernhoff, ³ D. Besson, ^{4,5} N. Bingefors, ⁶ O. Botner, ⁶ S. Buitink, ⁷ K. Carter, ⁸ B.A. Clark, ⁹ A. Connolly, ² P. Dasgupta, ¹ S. de Kockere, ¹⁰ K.D. de Vries, ¹⁰ C. Deaconu, ¹¹ M.A. DuVernois, ¹² N. Feigl, ¹³ D. García-Fernández, ^{13,14} C. Glaser, ⁶ A. Hallgren, ⁶ S. Hallmann, ¹⁴ J.C. Hanson, ¹⁵ B. Hendricks, ¹⁷ B. Hokanson-Fasig, ¹² C. Hornhuber, ⁴ K. Hughes, ¹¹ A. Karle, ¹² J.L. Kelley, ¹² S.R. Klein, ¹⁶ R. Krebs, ¹⁷ R. Lahmann, ¹³ M. Magnuson, ⁴ T. Meures, ¹² Z.S. Meyers, ^{13,14} A. Nelles, ^{14,13,*} A. Novikov, ⁴ E. Oberla, ¹¹ B. Oeyen, ¹⁸ H. Pandya, ⁷ I. Plaisier, ^{13,14} L. Pyras, ^{19,14} D. Ryckbosch, ¹⁸ O. Scholten, ¹⁰ D. Seckel, ²⁰ D. Smith, ¹¹ D. Southall, ¹¹ J. Torres, ² S. Toscano, ¹ D.J. Van Den Broeck, ^{10,7} N. van Eijndhoven, ¹⁰ A.G. Vieregg, ¹¹ C. Welling, ^{13,14} S. Wissel, ^{17,8} R. Young ⁴ and A. Zink ¹³
¹ Université Libre de Bruxelles, Science Faculty CP230, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium
² Dept. of Physics. Center for Cosmology and AstroParticle Physics. Ohio State University.
<i>Columbus, OH 43210, U.S.A.</i>
³ Uppsala University, Dept. of Engineering Sciences, Division of Electricity, Uppsala, SE-752 37, Sweden
⁴ University of Kansas, Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, Lawrence, KS 66045, U.S.A.
⁵ National Nuclear Research University MEPhI, Kashirskoe Shosse 31, 115409, Moscow, Russia
⁶ Uppsala University, Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, Uppsala, SE-752 37, Sweden
⁷ Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Astrophysical Institute, Pleinlaan 2, 1050 Brussels, Belgium
⁸ Physics Dept. California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo, CA 93407, U.S.A.
⁹ Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI 48824, U.S.A.
¹⁰ Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Dienst ELEM, B-1050 Brussels, Belgium
¹¹ Dept. of Physics, Enrico Fermi Inst., Kavli Inst. for Cosmological Physics, University of Chicago, Chicago, IL 60637, U.S.A.
¹² Wisconsin IceCube Particle Astrophysics Center (WIPAC) and Dept. of Physics,
University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI 53703, U.S.A.
¹³ Erlangen Center for Astroparticle Physics (ECAP), Friedrich-Alexander-University Erlangen-Nuremberg, 91058 Erlangen, Germany
¹⁴ DESY, Platanenallee 6, 15738 Zeuthen, Germany
¹⁵ Whittier College, Whittier, CA 90602, U.S.A.
¹⁶ Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA 94720, U.S.A.
¹⁷ Dept. of Physics, Dept. of Astronomy & Astrophysics, Penn State University, University Park, PA 16801, U.S.A.

^{*}Corresponding author.

¹⁸Ghent University, Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, B-9000 Gent, Belgium
 ¹⁹Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Unter den Linden 6, 10117 Berlin, Germany
 ²⁰Dept. of Physics and Astronomy, University of Delaware, Newark, DE 19716, U.S.A.

E-mail: anna.nelles@desy.de

ABSTRACT: This article presents the design of the Radio Neutrino Observatory Greenland (RNO-G) and discusses its scientific prospects. Using an array of radio sensors, RNO-G seeks to measure neutrinos above 10 PeV by exploiting the Askaryan effect in neutrino-induced cascades in ice. We discuss the experimental considerations that drive the design of RNO-G, present first measurements of the hardware that is to be deployed and discuss the projected sensitivity of the instrument. RNO-G will be the first production-scale radio detector for in-ice neutrino signals.

KEYWORDS: Large detector systems for particle and astroparticle physics; Neutrino detectors

ArXiv ePrint: 2010.12279

Contents

1	Introduction				
	1.1	Scope of RNO-G	2		
	1.2 Relation to previous and current radio experiments				
2	Science case and design requirements				
	2.1	Diffuse neutrino flux	5		
	2.2	Sky coverage	6		
	2.3	Transient sources	7		
	2.4	Fundamental physics	8		
	2.5	Radio emission from neutrino interactions in ice and consequences for site selection	9		
	2.6	Air showers as both a potential background and calibration signal	10		
3	Exp	erimental design considerations	12		
	3.1	Summit station, Greenland	14		
	3.2	A low-power, low-threshold trigger and data acquisition system	15		
	3.3	Detector geometry: an integrated approach with deep and surface components	15		
	3.4	High analysis efficiency and low background to enhance discovery potential	17		
4	The RNO-G instrument design				
	4.1	Antennas	20		
	4.2	Radio-frequency front-end design	23		
	4.3	Triggering, digitization, and data acquisition	23		
	4.4	Autonomous power and wireless communications	26		
5	Inst	allation, calibration, and operations	28		
	5.1	Drilling and installation plan	29		
	5.2	Calibration requirements and strategies	29		
	5.3	Operations and data systems	30		
6	Proj	jected sensitivity of RNO-G	31		
	6.1	Sensitivity to diffuse flux	32		
	6.2	Energy measurement	33		
	6.3	Angular sensitivity	35		
	6.4	Sensitivity to transient events	36		
	6.5	Sensitivity to air shower signals	38		
7	Con	clusions	39		

1 Introduction

This paper describes the Radio Neutrino Observatory Greenland (RNO-G) as it will be constructed at Summit Station in Greenland starting in 2021. RNO-G science targets astrophysical neutrinos of several PeV in energy up to the EeV range.

In this paper, we first motivate the science case for RNO-G, elaborate on experimental design considerations and then outline the instrument design. Awaiting in-field performance data, this article does not serve as a technical document, but describes the concept, the current hardware developments and boundary conditions behind the RNO-G approach. We conclude with a description of initial estimates of the design sensitivity of the instrument, as well as the expected resolution for such quantities as neutrino arrival direction and energy.

1.1 Scope of RNO-G

RNO-G will be constructed over three installation seasons. RNO-G will reach unprecedented yearly sensitivity to neutrino signals above 10 PeV, and will demonstrate a large-scale implementation (35 stations) of the in-ice radio neutrino detection technique. Even further scaling up of the in-ice radio technique, beyond the scale of RNO-G, is being developed as part of IceCube-Gen2 [1].

Considering both logistical constraints and also science opportunities (detailed below), RNO-G will be constructed at Summit Station in Greenland. The RNO-G collaboration consists of members of all previous radio in-ice neutrino experiments from both Europe and the United States.

1.2 Relation to previous and current radio experiments

Due to the extremely low neutrino flux at energies above 10 PeV, no neutrino has yet been detected using the radio technique. However, several experiments have shown the feasibility of this detection method and its potential. RNO-G builds heavily on the experience of previous radio neutrinos detectors, like the pioneering RICE [2, 3], the ARA [4–6] and ARIANNA [7, 8] experiments, as well as the balloon-borne ANITA [9, 10] experiment. These efforts tested different aspects of the radio technique and helped illuminate technologically important aspects of operating in remote locations in harsh polar conditions.

The first experience with in-ice radio detectors was gained with the Radio Ice Cherenkov Experiment (RICE) [2] at the South Pole. After a number of prototypes and initial measurements of the ice characteristics, the main experiment operated from 1999 until 2010. RICE provided the first neutrino limits [3] from radio detectors and valuable experience in operating radio detectors at depths of down to 200 m.

The Askaryan Radio Array (ARA) [5] has operated at South Pole since 2010 [11] and is a direct successor to RICE. While the RICE antennas were co-located with the AMANDA and IceCube experiments at South Pole, all five ARA stations operate in dedicated dry holes of depths 50 m–200 m. While different hardware has been deployed in different ARA stations, the station layout is mostly uniform. Every station consists of four receiver strings down to 200 m. Each string is equipped with two vertically-polarized birdcage dipole antennas (VPol) and two ferrite-loaded slot antennas (Hpol) to reconstruct the radio signals. In addition, one or two calibration strings as well as surface antennas (on the earlier stations) are deployed. As the narrow cylindrical borehole geometry limits the intrinsic antenna gain, ARA pioneered the phased-array technique for radio detection of neutrinos at the most recently completed station [12].

To date, the ARA collaboration has published constraints on the diffuse ultra-high energy (UHE) neutrino flux [6], neutrinos from gamma-ray bursts (GRBs) [13], and radio emission from solar flares [14]. The performance of the instrument has been verified using transmitters lowered into the SPICE borehole [15], which also allowed for the measurement of glaciological properties of the ice — some of which can be used for improved neutrino event reconstruction [16, 17].

The Antarctic Ross Ice-Shelf ANtenna Neutrino Array (ARIANNA) began construction at the Ross Ice-Shelf in 2010, with a first hexagonal radio array being completed in 2015 [7, 8]. The AR-IANNA concept is based around surface stations, i.e. the antennas are deployed just underneath the snow-surface. High-gain log-periodic dipole antennas (LPDAs) are deployed in shallow slots in the snow, where they are not restricted by the borehole geometry and exhibit broadband characteristics and dedicated polarization sensitivity, particularly to horizontally polarized signals. By placing the antennas at Moore's Bay on the Ross Ice-Shelf, the neutrino-detection strategy utilizes the reflective surface at the bottom of the ice at the water interface, which reflects downward going neutrino signals back to the stations. Without external infrastructure, ARIANNA pioneered autonomous low-power stations, based on renewable energy sources, operated via wireless communications. Most recently wind turbines were added to the solar power-provision system [18].

ARIANNA has successfully detected the radio signal of air showers as calibration and verification signals [19] and published limits on the UHE neutrino flux [20]. The collaboration also published the effectiveness of recording signals reflected from the surface by monitoring snow accumulation [21]. Two ARIANNA stations have also been deployed at South Pole to test the robustness of the hardware under environmental circumstances differing from the Ross Ice Shelf. The same calibration source as used for ARA from the SPICE borehole was then also used to verify the reconstruction capabilities of the ARIANNA experiment with respect to arrival direction and polarization [22].

The Antarctic Impulsive Transient Antenna (ANITA) experiment has flown four separate missions over Antarctica. ANITA is a balloon-borne radio receiver array that scans the surface from afar for upcoming neutrino signals generated below the ice surface. Several components of the ANITA hardware have been incorporated into the ARA and ARIANNA designs [9, 10, 23]. While equipped with much different power and lifetime requirements, the technological challenges remain similar. A data acquisition system with high timing accuracy and thorough calibration is needed to reliably reconstruct neutrino or cosmic-ray signals. ANITA was the first radio-neutrino experiment to report the detection of air shower signals [24], which helped to verify the simulation chain and the understanding of the energy calibration [25]. The ANITA collaboration observed several events which, if neutrinos, would seem to be in tension with Standard-Model cross-sections [26–28]. Those events may also stem from unexplained systematics or ice effects [29, 30].

Operation of existing ARA stations continue in close cooperation with IceCube. In addition, proposals for an ANITA-successor ballooning effort are being discussed, as well as an extension of the ARIANNA array at Moore's Bay.

In addition to building on experiences with dedicated radio neutrino experiments, RNO-G also profits from knowledge gained at accelerator experiments about the nature of the in-medium emission from particle showers [31–34], as well as those from mid-scale air shower arrays measuring the radio emission of cosmic ray induced showers e.g. [35–39]. First efforts at exploring the feasibility



Figure 1. A multi-messenger view of the high-energy universe, inspired by [43], showing the science reach for radio detection of neutrinos. Shown are models predicting neutrinos from sources (in red lines) [44–49] and those from the interaction of the ultra-high energy cosmic rays with various photon backgrounds (in dark yellow lines). Overlaid are [50, 51] the γ -ray measurements from Fermi [52], the IceCube neutrino measurements and the fit to the muon neutrino spectrum [53–55], as well as the spectrum of ultra-high energy cosmic rays as reported by the Pierre Auger Observatory [56].

of a detector in Greenland have been conducted previously by members of the collaboration [40–42] and have encouraged the development of RNO-G.

2 Science case and design requirements

Neutrinos are ideal messengers to identify the UHE sources in the universe. Unlike cosmic rays, which are deflected by magnetic fields and interact with intervening matter and radiation, neutrinos point back to their sources and can reach Earth from the most distant corners of the universe. Furthermore, due to their low interaction cross section, neutrinos are unique messengers to convey information about the inner engine of cosmic accelerator sites. Unlike γ -rays, which can also be created by inverse Compton scattering, the observation of high-energy neutrinos from astronomical objects provides incontrovertible evidence for hadronic cosmic-ray acceleration. Identifying the sources of cosmic rays and the acceleration mechanisms requires a comprehensive multi-messenger observation program comprising cosmic rays, γ -rays, and neutrinos across many decades of energy.

In the last years, neutrinos have delivered on their promise to provide a key piece of this astronomical puzzle with the discovery of a diffuse flux of astrophysical neutrinos [57–60]. IceCube has measured the neutrino energy spectrum to above 1 PeV — the highest-energy neutrinos ever observed. Beyond the PeV scale, the limited size of IceCube prohibits observation of the steeply falling neutrino flux. Figure 1 compares the neutrino flux measured by IceCube with the diffuse flux of γ -rays measured by Fermi [52] and the cosmic-ray spectrum measured by Auger [56]. The

three spectra display tantalizingly similar energy densities, suggesting a common origin. In such a scenario, cosmic-ray collisions produce pions, where gamma-rays then stem from decays of neutral pions and neutrinos from those of charged pions. The figure also shows the gap in observations of UHE neutrinos beyond the energies reachable by IceCube.

Multi-messenger observations are even more intriguing in light of the announcement in July 2018 of the first coincident observation of a neutrino from the direction of a source (the blazar TXS 0506+056) that was flaring simultaneously in γ -rays [61, 62]. This was also the first multi-messenger observation triggered by a high-energy neutrino, demonstrating the capability to send real time alerts and establishing the field as a vital pillar of multi-messenger astronomy. To fully understand the neutrino sky, however, a larger detector must be built and observations extended to the PeV–EeV energy range.

The radio detection technique naturally targets neutrino energies beyond the reach of IceCube. Due to the kilometer scale attenuation length of radio waves in ice, very sparse radio detectors cover large volumes of material, providing huge effective volumes at 10 PeV to 100 EeV. In this energy range, several transient and diffuse sources of neutrinos are expected and an experimental measurement would strongly impact identification of the sources of ultra-high energy cosmic rays.

The general science case of neutrino astronomy has been reviewed in the context of the 2020 US decadal survey [63, 64]. This section will thus focus specifically on the science program that can be conducted by radio detectors for high-energy neutrinos.

2.1 Diffuse neutrino flux

The radio detection of neutrinos targets the energy range from 10 PeV to beyond 100 EeV. In this range, diffuse neutrino fluxes both directly from sources (*astrophysical neutrinos*), as well as from the interaction of ultra-high energy cosmic rays (UHECRs) with photon backgrounds (*cosmogenic neutrinos*) are predicted. Detecting either will enable studies of high-energy neutrino production mechanisms locally, at the still unknown sources.

Figure 1 shows different models for astrophysical (red) and cosmogenic (yellow) neutrinos that fall in the energy range of radio detectors. Cosmogenic neutrinos result from interactions of UHECRs with photon fields like the extra-galactic background light, the infra-red background, or the cosmic microwave background [65]. The flux and spectrum of these neutrinos are grounded in the UHECR mass composition, but are subject to model assumptions about the cosmological luminosity and chemical evolution of the sources, which can differ outside of the local universe probed by UHECRs [66]. For the cosmogenic neutrino predictions shown in figure 1, we compare predictions based on compositions measured by the Telescope Array (TA) [67, 68] and the Pierre Auger Observatory (Auger) [50, 69]. These are in fact only examples of the full range of possible models admitted by current constraints [51].

While the cosmogenic fluxes predicted assuming the Auger and TA compositions vary significantly, composition measurements from the two experiments are compatible within systematic uncertainties [70]. With a measurement of UHE neutrinos, radio detectors can resolve the question of a pure-proton composition, which is disfavored by Auger, but still allowed by TA data. More generally, measuring UHE neutrinos will constrain a combination of proton fraction, source evolution and highest-energy cutoffs of UHECRs well beyond local sources. We consider 'astrophysical' neutrinos as those created directly in (or very close to) the sources of UHECRs. These neutrinos tend to have lower energies than cosmogenic neutrinos, but also reach the energy range of radio detectors. They will definitely trace their sources, allowing for stacking analyses to reveal them. These neutrinos are not necessarily time-coincident with explosive events (see section 2.3), but contribute to a constant diffuse flux. Potential candidates range from Active Galactic Nuclei (AGN) [47] to various types of gamma-ray bursts (GRBs) [46, 49], pulsars [45], galaxy clusters [44], Flat Spectrum Radio Quasars (FSRQs) [71], and blazars [48].

The diversity of models of astrophysical neutrinos is already large and promising, but we expect more models to become available as detectors with the necessary sensitivities are commissioned.

It remains to be explored whether astrophysical neutrinos are the source of the diffuse flux as measured by IceCube or whether the observed flux is the low energy tail of the cosmogenic neutrinos. So far, despite the multi-messenger successes, studies demonstrate that neutrinos from blazars cannot comprise the bulk of the diffuse neutrino spectrum at energies accessible by IceCube [72–77]. A radio detector will be able to measure the continuation of the IceCube flux to higher energies and thereby provide additional information on the spectral shape of the flux, which may be useful to disentangle the source contributions.

A successful search for the diffuse neutrino flux at energies beyond 10 PeV requires, above all, an adequate flux sensitivity to ensure a first observation. To subsequently discriminate putative production mechanisms, a detector must provide an adequate energy estimate for every neutrino and an angular reconstruction that allows for the correlation of arrival directions with known sources.

2.2 Sky coverage

Figure 2 demonstrates the field of view of a radio neutrino telescope sited in Greenland. When targeting point-like sources, either steady or transient (see section 2.3), the field of view of the detector becomes relevant. The Earth is opaque to neutrinos at PeV to EeV energies, such that UHE neutrino observatories are most sensitive to down-going or Earth-skimming neutrinos. As will be discussed in more detail section 2.5, a radio neutrino detector in glacial ice on bedrock will be most sensitive to an annulus above the horizon.

Combining the opacity of the Earth to neutrinos above PeV energies with the inherent radio detector sensitivity means that, for example, a follow-up of TeV-scale IceCube events at higher energies requires a Northern detector such as RNO-G. A *single event* observed by a radio detector in the Northern hemisphere will define the flux in a new energy regime, and even a non-detection will constrain the allowed flux through *multi-wavelength* neutrino observations.

The continuous sky coverage and large field-of-view will enable studies of point sources of high-energy neutrinos. The hotspot of UHECRs observed by TA [79] (red ellipse in figure 2) lies in the Northern Hemisphere. While the cosmogenic neutrino flux is expected to be diffuse, studies attributing the TA hotspot to a single source of cosmic rays like M82 predict point sources of EeV neutrinos [80]. There are additionally four intriguing point sources nearing the threshold for a high-confidence long-term detection in IceCube (shown as navy blue diamonds in figure 2), all of which lie in the Northern Hemisphere due to the sensitivity of IceCube. These include not only TXS 0506+056, but also NGC 1068, an AGN which lies near the strongest hotspot in IceCube's all-sky scan [78].



Figure 2. The field of view, in equatorial coordinates, of an in-ice radio detector for neutrinos in Greenland. The colored background represents the diurnally-averaged total field of view of the detector. Also shown are targets with interesting multi-messenger implications. The blue sources are those seen by IceCube as the most significant sources in a point-source search [78]. In orange, we show other interesting candidates, with strong γ -ray emission and/or radio emission. Furthermore, we indicate what is known as the *TA hotspot* as indicated by the anisotropy measurement in cosmic ray measured with the Telescope Array [79].

2.3 Transient sources

Detecting neutrino emission in temporal and spatial coincidence with an explosive event has shaped and will continue to shape multi-messenger astronomy [61, 62]. By uniquely identifying sources, neutrinos will help to characterize and discover the most energetic non-thermal sources on the sky. Many models of astrophysical transient phenomena predict neutrinos in the detectable energy range of radio neutrino detectors.

The overlap in sky coverage with IceCube, where IceCube has its best efficiency for directional reconstruction of astrophysical neutrinos, will enable studies of several interesting flaring, transient sources over a broad energy band. Should the first tentative extra-galactic neutrino source, the blazar TXS 0506+056, flare [61, 62] again, observations made by IceCube and RNO-G may be able to define the neutrino spectrum. Similarly, the first blazars known to flare with TeV γ -rays emission, Markarian 501 [81] and Markarian 421 [82], also lie in the Northern sky. Models of transient bursts of neutrinos due to tidally disrupted stars [83–89] and binary neutron star mergers [90, 91] also predict neutrinos in the PeV to EeV energy scale. The latter are targets for multi-messenger observations of gravitational waves and neutrinos. Figure 3 shows a fraction of the parameter space over which neutrinos are expected as transient phenomena from various source classes. In the figure, model-dependent fluence is compared to duration for varying neutrino energies around EeV. Furthermore, different populations of blazars, including low-luminosity BL Lacs, high-luminosity BL Lacs and FSRQs [48], the most powerful blazars in the γ -ray band [71], could provide intriguing candidates for multi-wavelength follow up. The energy threshold of RNO-G will allow sensitive



Figure 3. Expected neutrino flux at Earth integrated over transient duration from different classes of astrophysical objects placed at probable and previously studied distances. These include short GRBs (possibly associated with a Neutron Star-Neutron Star merger) [130] and GRB afterglows [49] at a distance of 40 Mpc, the high state SED of Tidal Disruption Events (TDEs) at 50 Mpc [89], and stable fast-spinning young magnetars [131] at 10 Mpc roughly 4 days post merger. Blazar flares [132] are shown based on a proton synchotron model applied to multi-wavelength observations of PKS 1502+106, which has a redshift of z=1.8. The expected transient fluence for each object is plotted against duration, or flare time, for three neutrino energies: 10^{17} eV (hollow shapes), 10^{18} eV (half shapes), and 10^{19} eV (filled shapes).

searches for GRBs [46, 49, 92–113, 113–128] with lower neutrino luminosity than previously conducted with radio neutrino experiments [13, 129].

A successful radio detector for transient signals needs reliable absolute timing and good angular reconstruction. Ideally, the angular reconstruction is both sufficiently rapid and accurate to allow meaningful alerts to be quickly sent to the multi-messenger community. Absolute timing is critical to the multi-messenger mission.

2.4 Fundamental physics

High-energy cosmic neutrinos uniquely probe fundamental particles and interactions in an uncharted and otherwise unreachable energy and redshift regime, as summarized in [64].

The energy regime of neutrino radio detectors encompasses a relatively unmapped parameter space, helping to answer questions about the fundamental neutrino properties such as the behavior of neutrino cross-sections [133–140] and flavor mixing at high energies [141–147], or even whether neutrinos are stable in general [144, 148–154]. There is the chance to contribute to broader phenomenology such as the nature of dark matter [155–171], the quest for the fundamental symmetries of nature, [172–184] and/or potential hidden interactions with cosmic backgrounds [144, 185–190].

Overall, for a radio detector to provide experimental data for fundamental physics experiments, the highest priority is to detect neutrinos with adequate statistics. After this is given, the accuracy of statements regarding fundamental physics will strongly depend on the accuracy of the reconstruction.



Figure 4. Electric-field waveforms (left) and spectra (right) of the radio signal emitted at different viewing angles relative to the Cherenkov angle, for a hadronic shower with energy deposition of 1 EeV. For enhanced readability, the waveforms have been offset in time. No propagation or detector effects have been included.

The obtainable energy resolution directly impacts spectral measurements and the accuracy of energy dependent quantities in fundamental physics. For studies relying on for example the amount of matter traversed, angular resolution has a direct impact. Potential flavor sensitivity of radio experiments would be interesting to answer yet another set of fundamental physics questions.

2.5 Radio emission from neutrino interactions in ice and consequences for site selection

The radio emission following a neutrino interaction stems from the *Askaryan* effect [191]. Postulated more than 50 years ago, the effect has been demonstrated in accelerator experiments in several dieletrics including ice [31–34], as well as identified as secondary emission mechanisms in air showers [192, 193].

Askaryan emission is caused by showers developing in a (dense) medium. Thus, a radio signal follows the interaction of neutrino of all flavors, as long as a particle shower is generated, both for hadronic and electromagnetic showers [194]. It is also possible to detect showers induced by catastrophic energy-losses of secondaries such as muons or taus [195]. The emission is a coherent effect, originating in the charge imbalance resulting from medium electrons either Compton scattering into the advancing shower or annihilating with shower positrons. With respect to the surrounding medium a net-negative charge is present in the shower front.

The radio signal itself is a broad-band bipolar pulse with ~ns-duration. Coherence is given over all frequencies (typically tens of MHz to tens of GHz) close to the Cherenkov angle, where the signal is strongest as the emission at all frequencies arrives in phase. Coherence is lost off the Cherenkov angle first at high frequencies, so that the Cherenkov ring is rather narrow at high frequencies and broader at low frequencies. A discussion of a variety of models for the radio emission of neutrinos can be found in [196], they range from simplified parameterized models in the frequency domain to

more advanced semi-analytical time-domain models. In figure 4 we show typical pulses and their frequency spectra derived from [197], for an illustration of the variety and the behavior.

The energy threshold for a neutrino detection is significantly higher in radio than for optical instruments [2]. Depending on the exact instrumental parameters, the pulse amplitude at a distance of 100 m reaches the level of the typical thermal noise in low-noise radio receivers at approximately 1 PeV. Although the energy per radio photon is significantly smaller than for optical photons, signal coherence compensates as the charge imbalance grows. As a coherent effect, the amplitude scales linearly with the number of excess electrons, which itself is linear in shower energy [31, 198]. However, it should be noted that the detected signal amplitude scales with $\frac{1}{r}$, with *r* being the distance to the neutrino interaction vertex.

At the same observer distance r, the detected signal amplitudes linearly as function of energy. This has been confirmed in air showers since the attenuation in air is negligible [37]. The situation is different for instrumentation deployed in-ice. The kilometer-scale attenuation length in ice [5, 41, 199–201], determines the range to an observable neutrino interaction, and, therefore, the detector effective volume. The attenuation length decreases with increasing temperature, which favors cold and thick ice for deployment.

Naturally occurring ice follows a depth-dependent density profile with a gradient, from fresh snow to solid ice, resulting in a varying light velocity with depth, and therefore non-rectilinear ray trajectories. In a medium with a refractive index gradient, radio signals are bent towards the denser medium, producing bent trajectories and a limited field of view for detectors in or close to the near-surface firn layer. These bent trajectories complicate the reconstruction, particularly when there are uncertainties in the ice properties. The simplest ansatz assumes a smooth ice density gradient. Calculations demonstrate that anisotropies in the firn (or below) may support unexpected horizontal propagation, as borne out by experimental data [42, 202]. A radio detector should therefore preferably be built at a site with a small firn layer and otherwise smooth and homogeneous ice.

Starting from PeV energies, the Earth is opaque to neutrinos, such that radio detectors will be sensitive to an annulus of neutrino directions above and slightly below the horizon. The deeper the detector, the more vertically incoming neutrino directions can be detected. For a detector at a few hundred meters depth, the sensitivity does not reach far beyond 30° elevation, unless the reflective property of the bottom of a shelf-ice is used, as for the ARIANNA experiment [203].

In summary, an in-ice radio neutrino detector in glacial ice on bedrock will have the largest acceptance if installed in thick, smooth and cold ice. It will never be able to provide full sky coverage, but only be sensitive to a ring of elevations above and slightly below the local horizon.

Figure 5 provides an overview of the geometry for the detection radio signals with a detector buried in the ice. Every station monitors a large volume of ice, which means that by shear geometry a detection is most likely to show small signals as this corresponds to an interaction in the largest visible volume.

2.6 Air showers as both a potential background and calibration signal

The radio emission of air showers from the electron charge excess is similar to that for neutrino induced showers in ice. However, in air the geomagnetic emission [204, 205] dominates over the Askaryan effect. The geomagnetic emission stems from the charge separation induced by the Lorentz force in the Earth's magnetic field. The different signatures of the two contributions



Figure 5. Schematic of the detection of the radio emission following a neutrino interaction (not to scale). The emission is strongest at the Cherenkov angle (blue cone) and can follow straight and bent trajectories to the receiving station depending on the profile of the index of refraction of the ice. The signal is usually detected at large distances and is strongly polarized as illustrated in the insets.

can be disentangled by their polarization. While still mostly linearly polarized, the main axis of the polarization from geomagnetic emission is aligned with the cross-product of shower axis and magnetic field [192, 193].

Due to their larger extent and the resulting consequences for coherence, air shower signals typically contain more low frequencies than those from showers in dense media [206]. Nevertheless, signals from air showers and denser in-ice showers are remarkably similar, which makes the much more abundant air shower signals a suitable calibration signal. Since the cosmic ray energy spectrum is well-known (e. g. [70]) and the radio energy scale understood [37, 207], measuring air showers will allow any detector to be calibrated *in-situ*, which includes checking the sensitivity simulations on an absolute scale. This will lend confidence to the signal identification and reconstruction [19].

The remarkable similarity can of course also be a reason for concern. The in-air signal will be (partly) refracted into the ice, where it may be picked-up by antennas and incorrectly identified as neutrino induced signal. While the signal will clearly be down-going, so may be signals from neutrino interactions, due to the ray bending properties of the ice [196]. It has also been argued that an incompletely developed air shower may cause transition radiation and other phenomena observable in deep detector stations [208]. In addition, stochastic energy losses by high energy muons in an air shower penetrating the ice may mimic the interaction of a neutrino [195]. Without additional detectors, the muons themselves are invisible to radio detectors, while the energy losses are detectable. Depending on the exact detector configuration and trigger, these background events may limit the analysis efficiency, albeit dropping sharply in number with energy.

Overall, this argues to equip all radio neutrino detectors with their own dedicated air shower array, for both calibration and veto purposes. Conveniently, due to the signal similarity, no additional



Figure 6. Simulated radio air shower footprints at 4 different incoming zenith angles. Simulations were performed using CORSIKA and the RNO-G site (magnetic field and height above sea level) in Greenland, and include the response of upward facing logarithmic periodic dipole antennas, as planned for RNO-G (see figure 7). The global maximum of the amplitudes in three antennas is shown. The air shower energy is 3.2×10^{18} eV for all showers, and the zenith angles are indicated in the figure.

technology is needed for such a detector, but does require additional surface antennas connected to the same data-acquisition system (DAQ). A dedicated air shower trigger, optimized to the lower frequency content of the air shower signals, would significantly enhance efficiency and detection rate. Due to the height of the interaction in the atmosphere and the fact that $n_{air} \approx 1.0$ co-aligns the emission with the shower axis, the detectable footprint of the radio signal from air showers is centered on the shower axis, with lateral extent distributed ellipsoidally on the ground, as shown in figure 6. The exact size is governed by the distance to shower maximum and the projection effect of the zenith angle [209]. The figure qualitatively illustrates that vetoing horizontal air showers will be relatively straightforward, while retaining high efficiency for vertical showers presents more of a challenge. The typical threshold for air shower detection is around 10 PeV, which is again similar to the threshold of in-ice detection.

3 Experimental design considerations

RNO-G is designed to demonstrate the scalability of the radio detection technology, while enabling the world's-best UHE neutrino sensitivity through low thresholds and also high efficiency. The system is designed to provide high fidelity identification of neutrino signals and reconstruction of neutrino properties. Building on these requirements, a station and array design as schematically depicted in figure 7 was developed.



Figure 7. Left: map of the planned RNO-G array at Summit Station; grid spacing is approximately 1 km. Right: a single RNO-G station consists of three strings of antennas (Hpol and Vpol) plus surface antennas (LPDAs), as well as three calibration pulsers located both deep in the ice and also at the surface. The string containing the phased array trigger is designated as the *power string*, while the two additional strings are designated as *support strings*.

The design of RNO-G combines the experience gained with all prior in-ice radio neutrino experiments, especially ARA [5] and ARIANNA [210], and also builds on lessons learned with radio air shower arrays that have first demonstrated the experimental power of the radio detection technique, e.g. [37, 38].

As outlined above, a location is needed with thick, homogeneous and cold ice to yield the best experimental results. An additional requirement is the availability of a sufficiently developed infrastructure to allow for installation, running and maintenance of the detector. While the instrumented stations can be fully autonomous, the amount of cargo and personnel needed for installation requires accessibility by plane or large vehicle. The number of accessible research stations fitting these requirements in either Antarctica or Greenland is limited. The host institutions of the RNO-G collaboration members and their access to national infrastructure additionally excludes some obvious candidate sites (Dome A, Dome C and Vostok in Antarctica, e.g.), leaving essentially South Pole Station and Summit Station in Greenland. South Pole station already houses a premier CMB instrument (the South Pole Telescope [211]), as well as the world's largest neutrino telescope (IceCube), which is in the process of installing the IceCube-Upgrade [212]. The logistical burden is, thus, already high at South Pole.

If RNO-G is also to be used to develop and test hardware for the radio component of IceCube-Gen2 [1], a site similar to South Pole has advantages, if South Pole station is unavailable. Interesting coastal sites, like the Ross-Ice-Shelf close to McMurdo Station, which hosts the ARIANNA experiment [213], can assist in developing other technologies, but would be unable to replicate some of the particular challenges of South Pole.

To achieve a high trigger efficiency, a cosmic-ray veto, and the ability to reconstruct events with high accuracy, the RNO-G design combines a surface with a deep array capable of operating at low threshold (see figure 7). The collaboration will develop the necessary expertise for rapid installation with a minimum of logistical impact, enabled by newer, fast drilling technology and lightweight, low-power, autonomous stations that still achieve excellent single-station effective volume.

3.1 Summit station, Greenland

Going to Greenland also has some fundamental consequences for the design decisions. The Antarctic has been host to several pioneering arrays that aim to detect in-ice radio emission from UHE neutrinos. Through previous efforts, the Arctic has been established as a parallel site for a future radio neutrino observatory [41, 42, 214]. Summit Station offers several advantages as a testbed site. It is located at $72^{\circ}35'46''$ N, $38^{\circ}25'19''$ W at the peak of the Greenland ice cap, atop more than 3 km of glacial ice that we have measured to be remarkably radio transparent [41] at ~ 100 MHz, and with a ~ 100 m deep firn layer that we have preliminarily characterized [42]. It is a year-round scientific research station sponsored by the National Science Foundation. It has a snow runway that accommodates LC-130 Hercules flights to deliver cargo and personnel, and facilities on site to support science. Compared to sites in Antarctica, Summit Station (72° N Latitude) is easier to access from the Northern hemisphere, in particular through commercial flights from Europe, and has a larger fraction of the year with daily periods of light, providing a higher livetime for autonomous solar-powered stations. This final aspect is particularly important, given the reduced electrical generator infrastructure at Summit compared to South Pole. The restriction to renewable energies, combined with battery buffering limitations and the desire for high livetime, cap the amount of power the detector can draw and ultimately drive the station design.

Logistical considerations at Summit also favor a compact geometry with fewer, more sensitive stations rather than more, less sensitive stations. Similarly, the drilling technique must be light-weight and mobile and, therefore, mechanical.

The ASIG drill, which is able to drill 5.75 " diameter boreholes to 100 m at a rate of 1 hole per day, was initially considered as the main option [215]; subsequent antenna design was adapted to that form factor. Alternatively, the British Antarctic Survey (BAS) has been developing a mechanical drill that provides larger boreholes of 11.2", which will allow for greater flexibility in antenna design. Both drills satisfy the drilling rate, hole diameter and logistical impact specifications. See section 5.1 for an in-depth discussion of drilling and installation.

To compensate for the warmer, more attenuating ice in Greenland compared to South Pole, triggering is performed with the deeper antennas, below the firn. Since no detector has detected the radio emission following a neutrino interaction yet, the exact experimental signature is predicted by simulations only, arguing for a detector design that detects the neutrino signal in a multitude of channels to increase confidence. It can be considered to adapt and simplify the detection strategy once the first neutrino has been conclusively identified.



Figure 8. A simulated RNO-G neutrino event. The left side shows the event geometry illustrating both the direct and reflected ray-paths to the antennas, as well as the incoming neutrino and interaction vertex (blue) and its Cherenkov cone (red), where the strongest signals are expected. The right side shows the waveforms in selected antennas, and the improvement in signal-to-noise-ratio obtained by phasing the signals as done in the phased array trigger (shown in black, bottom row). This simulation and online event display utilize tools developed by the greater radio community [196, 216]. For better visibility, only selected channels are shown.

3.2 A low-power, low-threshold trigger and data acquisition system

The RNO-G stations are built around an interferometric phased array, similar to what has been demonstrated *in situ* at the South Pole on the ARA experiment [12, 214], achieving the lowest sustainable signal trigger threshold demonstrated in the field. Since the astrophysical neutrino flux shows a falling spectrum, improved sensitivity to lower-energy events dramatically increases the detected neutrino event rate. The phased-array technology has been adapted for RNO-G to provide similar sensitivity, albeit with a reduced power consumption.

The phased array trigger coherently sums single channel waveforms with time delays corresponding to a range of angles of incident plane waves, improving the trigger-level signal-to-noise ratio roughly linearly with the number of antennas in the array [12], as illustrated in figure 8. Projecting the performance of the existing ARA system, we expect to achieve an elevation-averaged 50% trigger efficiency point at a $2\sigma_{noise}$ threshold in voltage. This low threshold is needed to observe the largest volume of ice possible as discussed in section 2.5.

It should be noted that for the simulations, the following definition for signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) and noise is handled. SNR is defined as the amplitude of the noiseless signal over the standard deviation σ_{noise} of a pure noise waveform. A threshold of $2\sigma_{noise}$ thus means a threshold of twice the standard deviation of a trace without signal.

3.3 Detector geometry: an integrated approach with deep and surface components

After extensive trade studies, we have coalesced on a station design that integrates a deep component with a surface component, as shown in figure 7. This integrated design achieves the highest effective



Figure 9. Scaling of the effective volume as a function of the depth of antennas used for the phased-array trigger for a single station deployed at Summit Station. 100 m was used during the design process as the technological limit due to drilling restrictions. As the trigger antennas are placed deeper into the ice, the effective volume increases, due to the number of allowed ray trajectories in the ice. The curves have been obtained using a $2\sigma_{noise}$ dipole proxy for the phased array. Shown are statistical uncertainties only. Below 10 PeV the uncertainties on the effective volume become too large to draw firm conclusions.

volume per station given the phased-array trigger and mechanical drilling technology to 100 m. As shown in figure 9, the effective volume per station increases with increasing depth, so our design places the deep component of the station as deep as is logistically feasible, given the current constraints of drilling.

In addition to maximizing effective volume, the station design has been optimized for neutrino reconstruction efficiency. The string containing the phased array trigger will feature additional Vpol antennas almost equally spaced vertically along the string allowing us to pin-point the neutrino vertex and zenith angle of the signal arrival direction, and achieving high accuracy by exploiting azimuthal symmetry. Since the down-hole Vpol antennas are typically more sensitive than the Hpol antennas and the trigger selects signals having a measurable component in the vertical polarization, the Vpol antennas dominate vertex and signal arrival direction reconstruction. Adding two Hpol antennas above the phased array will allow us to improve the reconstruction of the full electric field. Combining the four Vpol antennas of the phased array with the two Hpols in proximity, should provide sufficient information to reconstruct the polarization of the signal, as well as its frequency slope, and thereby the off-Cherenkov signal angle and neutrino arrival direction.

The radio signal from a neutrino interaction often travels along direct, refracted or reflected paths (designated DnR) to the deep array, as shown in figure 8. The characteristic double pulse would be a smoking-gun signature of an in-ice source. The difference in direct and refracted arrival times significantly improves the reconstruction of the neutrino vertex position, and thereby the shower energy, as well as arrival direction [21]. The probability to observe both a direct and a reflected signal is depth dependent. The spacing of the Vpol antennas on the main string is the result of an optimization between double pulse detection and long lever arm for good angular reconstruction.

The two additional deep boreholes are needed for a full direction reconstruction. Three independent measurements are needed for azimuthal information, which is provided by the Vpol antennas. By placing the Hpol antennas at different depths on every string, both zenith and azimuth information will be provided for those signals with a strong horizontal polarization component, as well as increasing the probability to reconstruct a signal for those events with little signal strength in the horizontal component.

The additional strings also host the calibration pulsers, which will ensure regular monitoring of the performance of the station and provide information useful for precise calibration of the antenna geometry. In addition, a surface pulser is foreseen, which will be deployed in a hand-drilled hole below the surface.

The surface component will deliver precision polarization measurements and timing information for all events detected at the surface. Also, the broad-band sensitivity of the log-periodic dipole antennas (LPDAs) will broaden the frequency coverage of the detector, which helps determine the radio detection angle with respect to the Cherenkov cone, improving energy reconstruction and pointing resolution. Events detected only in the surface components, however, only add minimally to the total neutrino effective volume.

With the planned layout, any events observed in coincidence between the surface component and the deep component are particularly valuable for event reconstruction; the fraction of these events is discussed in section 3.4. In addition, the surface channels serve as an efficient air shower veto, reducing the background for neutrino searches as will be discussed in the following section.

The stations will be deployed on a square grid with 1 km baseline. This means that at energies beyond 1×10^{18} eV the effective volumes of the stations start to overlap and coincident measurements of the same neutrino become likely. This can be seen from figure 10, where the fraction of events triggered in coincidence is shown for different neutrino energies and grid spacings. While limiting the total effective volume of the system, 1 km was chosen to restrict the logistical impact in installation and preserve the opportunity of coincident events, which will simplify event identification and provide excellent reconstructed properties. As the project advanced, one may consider spacing stations further apart.

3.4 High analysis efficiency and low background to enhance discovery potential

In addition to triggering on and extracting event parameters from neutrino events, we must be able to separate any neutrino events in our recorded data set with high efficiency from all backgrounds. The three major sources of background are incoherent thermal noise, impulsive anthropogenic noise, and radio impulses resulting from cosmic-ray air showers. A discovery experiment of this scale requires low backgrounds at the level of 0.01 per station per year (or less). RNO-G is designed to achieve this ambitious background level by building on two key measures that have been developed to ensure event purity.

(1) Triggering from deep in the ice (at a depth of 100 m), where the backgrounds are smaller than at the surface: ARA has shown that the anthropogenic and thermal backgrounds decrease for receivers deployed deeper in the ice [217] and further from human activity at research stations, achieving a background on the most recent analysis of 0.01 events in two stations over



Figure 10. Fraction of coincident triggers on nearby stations as a function of the grid distance between stations for different neutrino energies. In addition to the 100 m deep power string, the coincidence fraction expected for a trigger near the surface is given for comparison.

1100 days of livetime [4]. This shows that successful background rejection can be achieved also during the summer at South Pole when anthropogenic backgrounds are more significant.

(2) Vetoing backgrounds using a surface detector component: non-thermal backgrounds are introduced from the surface or from close to the surface by man-made sources or air shower remnants. Surface antennas will help to separate neutrino induced signals originating within the ice from those of air showers [208] and those from showers caused by catastrophic energy losses from atmospheric muons [195].

Neutrino events triggered near threshold in the phased array system carry the risk to have low SNR in antennas needed for reconstruction. The information content in different numbers of antennas is illustrated in figure 11. Three channels detecting a signal $>3\sigma_{noise}$ is taken as a simple proxy for events that can be identified and reconstructed with currently available analysis techniques such as interferometry [218], template matching [7] and signal de-dispersion [23]. With a signal in the antennas of the phased array as well as in an antenna on the support string, it is possible to reconstruct the neutrino arrival direction (see section 6.3). To reconstruct the shower energy, at least 3 of the reconstruction antennas on the *power string* need to detect a pulse so that the distance to the interaction vertex can be reconstructed (see section 6.2). In some cases, the radio signal is reflected off the ice-air interface or diffracted downwards, so that two signals from the same shower can be detected. These so-called *DnR pulses* become more likely with higher neutrino energies and can be used to greatly improve the reconstruction accuracy. More details on reconstruction and resolution is given in section 6.2 and 6.3. Foreseeable advances in analysis techniques will further improve the efficiency near threshold, both in firmware and also in off-line analysis.

An accurate knowledge of the existing background is needed in order to project what fraction of triggers are due to non-neutrino backgrounds, and also to assess whether a veto mechanism is



Figure 11. Estimate of anticipated analysis efficiency, defined here as the fraction of events recorded in a pre-defined number of antennas (channels) above a given threshold. The left figure illustrates detections in the deep part of the array only. A detection in the support string (see figure 7) will allow for a reconstruction of the arrival direction of the signal and three antennas on the power string are needed for a vertex reconstruction. The right figure shows the fraction of DnR signals, which are particularly valuable for the vertex reconstruction and the fraction of very valuable events measured in both the deep array and the surface antennas. For these simulations we assume a trigger at $2.0\sigma_{noise}$ trigger in the phased array.

advisable (or mandatory). An important type of background which is difficult to distinguish from actual neutrino events is the background created by the energy losses from atmospheric muons from cosmic ray showers. These muons are produced in the atmosphere, continue their propagation into the ice; their subsequent interactions (mainly bremsstrahlung, photonuclear interaction, and pair production) create hadronic and electromagnetic showers that emit radiation and are therefore detectable by an in-ice radio array [219]. These muons share shower characteristics, arrival directions and vertex positions with the sought-after neutrinos (see [195]). We have calculated the number of expected muon-initiated showers for a 35-station array at Summit Station, using a 100 m-deep dipole with an amplitude threshold between $1.5\sigma_{\text{noise}}$ and $2.5\sigma_{\text{noise}}$ as a proxy for the phased array. The effective areas have been calculated using NuRadioMC [196] and its interface to PROPOSAL [220]. Then, these effective areas are convolved with the expected muon flux at the detector, calculated by MCEq [221]. The chosen cosmic ray flux model is the Global Spline Fit from [222]. This procedure is explained more in detail in [195]. The results are presented in figure 12, where each band represents the results for a hadronic interaction model. Shown are the expected number of detected muons for the phased array proxies (from 1.5 to $2.5\sigma_{\text{noise}}$) and also the 68% CL interval for the uncertainty due to cosmic ray flux, hadronic modeling and effective area. Figure 12, left, contains the expected detected number of muons per year for 35 stations as a function of shower energy, while figure 12, right, presents the same results as a function of cosmic ray energy.

The lower and upper bounds on the number of detected atmospheric muons per year for a 35-station layout, as well as the average number for a $2.0\sigma_{noise}$ trigger, can be found in table 1. While these values are relatively benign, we remind that the neutrino event rate may be equally low,



Figure 12. Number of atmospheric muons detected by a 35-station array at Summit Station. The phased array is modeled with dipoles having amplitude thresholds varying from 1.5 to $2.5\sigma_{noise}$, at 100 m of depth. Each color represents a different hadronic model, as specified in the legend. The bands include the range of expected events for the different simulated thresholds as well as the 68% CL contour corresponding to the effective area uncertainty. Left: number of detected atmospheric muons per year as a function of shower energy. Right: same results, presented as a function of cosmic ray energy. The drop off at low energies is an artifact of only simulating muons down to 1×10^6 GeV.

	$2.5\sigma_{noise}$ 68% CL LB	$2.0\sigma_{ m noise}$ average	$1.5\sigma_{noise}$ 68% CL UB
SIBYLL 2.3C	0.212	0.296	0.684
EPOS-LHC	0.129	0.173	0.444
QGSJet-II-04	0.031	0.044	0.180

Table 1. Number of detected atmospheric muons per year for a 35-station layout. Three hadronic models are shown. The numbers shown are the lower 68% CL lower bound for a $2.5\sigma_{noise}$ trigger (first column), the average values for a $2.0\sigma_{noise}$ trigger, and the 68% upper bound for a $1.5\sigma_{noise}$ trigger. See text for details.

at least at the threshold energy of the detector. Hence, the air shower self-vetoing on the detector deserves special attention, as well as the development of algorithms using event parameters such as arrival direction and vertex location to disentangle neutrino signals from those potential background events. Also, since the flux and composition of cosmic rays at the relevant energies is subject to large uncertainties, those same uncertainties propagate into the background prediction for radio arrays.

4 The RNO-G instrument design

RNO-G will provide high-quality science data and a robust, low trigger threshold with minimal power consumption using a station design schematically depicted in figure 13. In nominal operating mode, a station will use 25 W, including DC-DC converter losses. All equipment is rated to operate at -40° C and 3200 m altitude.

4.1 Antennas

The initial downhole antenna designs are driven by the 5.75'' diameter of the boreholes (ASIG drill [215]), with some modifications possible, if bigger boreholes are available (see section 3.1.



Figure 13. System diagram for an RNO-G station. See text for details.

The vertically-polarized (Vpol) antennas will be a *fat dipole* design (see figure 14) previously used in neutrino detection experiments, which have an azimuthally symmetric beam pattern and usable bandwidth ranging from 150-600 MHz [2, 214]. For horizontal polarization (Hpol), cylindrical *tri-slot antennas* are considered. They are nearly azimuthally-symmetric in gain, with differences of less than 1 dB up to 800 MHz, which corresponds to differences of less than 12% in effective length. Only Vpol antennas are used for the trigger because the Hpol antennas inherently have narrower usable bandwidth than the fat dipoles, as shown in figure 15. With the current Hpol designs, there is enough overlap with the Vpol band to combine the signals for polarization reconstruction in analysis. Larger boreholes (RAID drill) will especially help improve the broadband characteristics of the Hpol antennas. It is under consideration to exchange the tri-slot design for 8" quad-slot antennas, which will have a lower frequency turn-on and improved gain characteristics taking advantage of the larger allowed diameter.

The surface component employs commercially available log-periodic dipole antennas (LPDAs, Create CLP-5130-2N), successfully used by the ARIANNA experiment. ARIANNA's extensive in-field experience with these antennas will significantly simplify calibration. Owing to the high gain allowed without the borehole constraints, the nine LPDAs arranged in various orientations (see figure 7, right) will measure all polarization components with high-precision, and provide a clear separation of upgoing versus downgoing signals. Due to their size the LPDAs have the largest gain of all employed antennas and will provide the greatest frequency coverage for the detected signals.



Figure 14. Photo of a Vpol prototype (top) and technical drawings of options for the Hpol antennas (trislot, middle, quadslot, bottom). The Vpol and trislot are the first iterations of the deep antennas for RNO-G, while the quadslot is being considered for use in conjunction with larger diameter boreholes.



Figure 15. Antenna effective length magnitude for the LPDA, Vpol and Hpol (tri-slot) in the direction of maximum gain H_{θ} (V-pol and LPDA) or H_{ϕ} (H-pol). Results of detailed antenna simulations of the v1 iterations as shown in figure 14.

Particular care will be taken to placement and alignment of the LPDAs in the trenches at the surface, as well as surveying the position of boreholes and antenna locations to ensure good starting values for the system calibration using the *in situ* pulsers.

4.2 Radio-frequency front-end design

To minimize system noise temperature, the feed of each antenna deployed in the borehole is connected with a short coaxial cable to a downhole front-end (figure 13), where a Low-Noise Amplifier (LNA, type IGLU, see figure 16) boosts the signal strength. To prevent a significant gain slope from long lengths of copper coaxial cable, each front-end contains a Radio Frequency over Fiber (RFoF) transmitter. The RFoF link and LNA are both powered by a DC connection from the surface, which is the only through-going coaxial cable in the boreholes. The LNA and RFoF are custom designs optimized for minimal noise temperature (≤ 150 K) and low power. Each downhole channel consumes 140 mW, compared to 2.5 W in the previous installation of the phased-array in ARA. A total of 15 downhole antennas are distributed across three boreholes.

After being transmitted over fiber, the signals are received by another set of amplifiers in the DAQ box (type DRAB, see figure 16) and converted back to analog signals. At the DAQ box, the signals from the surface channels are also received and amplified. Given the relatively short run of coaxial cable from the LPDAs to the DAQ box of less than 20 m, the signals require only one amplification stage after being fed into the DAQ box (type SURFACE, see figure 16).

All amplifiers are placed in custom-designed RF-tight housings using iridited aluminium (chromate conversion coating). This significantly reduces the influence of noise on the amplifiers and protects the IGLU amplifiers in the boreholes from the environment. The amplifiers exhibit excellent uniformity in laboratory tests (see figure 17). Nevertheless, all amplifiers will be calibrated individually to reduce systematic uncertainties on the reconstructed signals.

4.3 Triggering, digitization, and data acquisition

The main trigger of RNO-G will come from a phased-array at depth of 100 m. The design of the field-proven phased-array installed at ARA [12] had to be changed to accommodate the lower power requirements of autonomous stations and was optimized with respect to the neutrino signals typically expected in Greenland and with respect to per-item cost for the scalability of the array.

The primary trigger will thus be a coherent-sum and beam-forming trigger from a compact array of four vertically-polarized antennas installed at the bottom of the main borehole string at a depth of 100 m. A commercially available 8-bit 500 MSa/s ADC is used to digitize and continuously stream data to an FPGA. This reduces the effective band to operate at the low-end of the signal bandwidth, 80 MHz–250 MHz. The lower cut-off is determined by the amplifier design that takes advantage of the full-range of low-frequency power that the antenna delivers.

Eight beams will be formed that cover the full range of expected signal arrival directions. Compared to the previous phased-array implementation in ARA there will be fewer beams, but each of them wider, thus no angular coverage loss is incurred. Overall, the power-savings total to about a factor of 10 for the trigger board, using 4 W in full operation mode.

A single-antenna voltage threshold of $2\sigma_{\text{noise}}$ can be achieved with this trigger, based on simulation studies as shown in figure 18. The smaller bandwidth reduces the SNR of on-cone





Figure 17. Gain of the RNO-G amplifiers. Left: 12 SURFACE amplifiers. Right: combination of 23 IGLU and DRAB amplifiers, including a 50 m optical fiber cable. All amplifiers are revision v1 hardware.



Figure 18. End-to-end simulation of the 4-antenna phased array trigger design for RNO-G. The simulated trigger efficiency for a number of neutrino signals at different off-cone viewing angles in the trigger bandwidth of 80 MHz–250 MHz.

signals (i.e. 0.5 deg in figure 18) by 10%, however, increases the SNR for off-cone events by up to 80%, thereby incurring very little loss on the absolute neutrino effective volume. This is due to the limited high-frequency content of off-cone neutrino signals (see also figure 4).

The full-band waveforms for all 24 antennas within a station will be digitized using the RAdio DIgitizer and Auxiliary Neutrino Trigger (RADIANT) board (figure 19). The single-channel LAB4D switched-capacitor array sampling ASIC is used for waveform recording at a rate up to 3.0 GSa/s with an adjustable record length up to ~700 ns and the capability for multi-event buffering on-chip [223]. For RNO-G it is planned to operate the LAB4D in 2x 2048-sample buffers for essentially deadtime-less performance.

A trigger decision can be made using input from the primary neutrino trigger board (phasedarray) or an auxiliary on-board trigger using similar Schottky diode detector circuits. The auxiliary on-board trigger is formed using a comparison between a DC voltage level and the enveloped waveform, which is fed to the on-board FPGA to build a combinatoric trigger decision. As the auxiliary trigger will have a higher overall threshold than is possible with the primary neutrino trigger board, it will predominately be used as additional trigger for the surface antennas as an air shower trigger. In periods in which the power available to the stations is low (see section 4.4) it can serve as main trigger, however, with a much weaker sensitivity to neutrino signals.

Once an event is digitized, the waveforms and metadata are transferred to a BeagleBoneBlack Industrial, an ARMv7l Linux system, over a Serial Peripheral Interface (SPI) link, which allows data transfer at up to 20 Mbps. The operating system and acquisition software are stored on robust eMMC storage, while a 128 GB industrial SD card stage data before it is transmitted wirelessly to Summit Station. The acquisition software is an evolution of field-proven ARA phased array acquisition software.



Figure 19. First iteration of the Radiant Board that will be the main DAQ of RNO-G. All 24 channels are accommodated on one board and read out by LAB-4D chips.

4.4 Autonomous power and wireless communications

Autonomous power and wireless communications simplify logistics for an experiment of this scale and become even more efficient for even larger arrays, such as IceCube-Gen2. Each station will be powered by two solar panels, with a total maximum power output of 300 W, and a 5 kWh sealed lead-acid battery bank that provides three days of full-system (24 W) running capacity during cloudy or inclement conditions, with a 60% de-rating margin. Lead-acid batteries, when lightly discharged relative to total capacity, have a proven track record in Arctic environments as demonstrated by the UNAVCO remote stations [224]. The daily solar energy delivered to a RNO-G station using a 300 W solar panel array is shown in figure 20, using realistic estimates of 70% total sun fraction (including diffuse and snow-reflected contributions) and a 90% charge-controller efficiency. A low-power microcontroller (μ C) will manage the power system and turn parts of the detector on and off as necessary. The μ C communicates with the Beaglebone SBC via a serial connection so that the SBC may be shut down cleanly if necessary. Enough power granularity is available to run the detector in a low-power, lower-sensitivity mode if needed.

The RNO-G station can be operated in several different modes depending on the available solar power capacity, in order to maintain constant science data during long stretches of inclement weather and during the shoulder seasons, when the sun only rises above the horizon for short periods per day. These operating modes include:

1. **Full-station mode:** power, trigger, and data acquisition on the full 24-channel station including the low-threshold trigger and full LTE data telemetry. Power:~24 W.



Figure 20. Predicted daily energy delivered by a 300 W photo-voltaic (PV) array to an RNO-G station at Summit Station. The PV array comprises two Ameresco 150J rugged panels mounted vertically and facing south. The total PV area is 2 m^2 .

- 2. **High-threshold mode:** power, trigger, and data acquisition on the full 24-channel station without the low-threshold trigger and minimal LTE data telemetry. Power:~17 W.
- 3. **Surface-only mode:** power, trigger, and data acquisition only on the 9 surface LPDAs and minimal LTE data telemetry. Power:~6 W.
- 4. Winter-over mode: operating mode during the polar night. All power is turned off except to the charge-controller, LoRaWAN network, and station-control microcontroller. Only minimal housekeeping data is telemetered over LoRa. The estimated power draw is ~70 mW.

The expected uptime for an RNO-G station at Summit Camp with the 300 W PV panel array is 216 days in operating mode 1 (59%), 25 days in mode 2 (7%), and another 20 days in mode 3 (5%) for a total science livetime of \sim 70% averaged over the year. For the remaining 30% of the year, the station will be put in winter-over mode. These different operating modes can be engaged by the RNO-G station controller autonomously or commanded remotely over one of the wireless networks.

Options to operate further into the winter are being explored. This R&D is particularly relevant for a potential larger array at the South Pole such as IceCube-Gen2, where the polar night is longer. Although not part of the baseline RNO-G design, wind-turbines may allow to extend the full-station mode operations of RNO-G throughout the winter. Development of radio-quiet wind turbines that can survive in the polar environment is ongoing [18]. Modeling using historical wind data [225, 226] suggests that a feasible 25%-efficient turbine at a height of 10 m would produce a daily average of 1200 Wh per square meter of collection area. Due to extended periods of low wind speeds a larger battery buffer will be needed for operation on wind power.

The main data transfer link from each detector to Summit Station will use modern cellular technology. A private LTE network provides high bandwidth (up to 75 Mbps total uplink) and long range while consuming minimal power (<1 W average) at each station. A commercially-sourced



Figure 21. The station solar charge controller and high-efficiency DC-DC board for RNO-G.



Figure 22. The anticipated timeline of RNO-G. The initial design work is ongoing. Installation will take place in the summer of 2021, 2022, and 2023, tentatively scheduling the installation of 10, 10 and 15 stations, respectively. Data taking will commence with the first deployed station.

LTE base station will be deployed with an antenna on the roof of the Science and Operations Building at Summit Station. As a compromise between range and minimizing interference with our detectors, LTE Band 8 (880-915 MHz uplink, 925-960 MHz downlink) was chosen and a permit has been acquired from the Greenlandic Radio Administration. Link modeling, including terrain shielding and a 10 dB fading margin, predicts a usable range up to 10 km.

A 34-dBi roof-top sectorial antenna at Summit can cover the azimuthal extent of the array and each station will be equipped with a 9 dBi antenna on a 3 m mast. A secondary LoRaWAN [227] network will also be deployed, providing a backup low-power but low-bandwidth connection for control and monitoring.

5 Installation, calibration, and operations

The anticipated timeline of the construction of RNO-G is shown in figure 22. The initial design work is already on-going and a first installation of stations is anticipated for 2021, provided that there are no continued restrictions due to the COVID-19 virus.

5.1 Drilling and installation plan

The main tasks for installation of each RNO-G station are:

- 1. drill boreholes for deep instrumentation,
- 2. deploy the solar panels and communications,
- 3. deploy detector instrumentation in boreholes and trenches,
- 4. confirm station operation and take calibration data.

The baseline RNO-G scenario assumed use of the ASIG mechanical drilling technology. The ASIG drill, owned and operated by the US Ice Drilling Program (IDP) is an auger with add-in drill sections. One 100 m deep hole requires a single working shift of 10 hours for three people. Therefore, the three holes required for each RNO-G station can be drilled in three days assuming one work shift per day, or one and a half days assuming two work shifts per day.

The preferred drill under consideration is the Rapid Access Isotope Drill (RAID) from the British Antarctic Survey (BAS). Holes of the diameter of 3 " were successfully drilled to 461 m at Little Dome C. For RNO-G larger diameter holes are needed, which is why an existing proto-type development BigRAID is being considered [228]. It will provide 285 mm or 11.2 " holes, taking about 0.85 days to reach 200 m or 0.38 days to reach 100 m, making it both faster and more versatile than the ASIG drill.

Using a mechanical drilling approach is much more scalable than previous drilling efforts for the ARA experiment at the South Pole, which used a hot water drill to reach 200 m depths. Mechanical drills are significantly lighter weight and less complex. Future development in drilling technology may enable exploring a wider range of more aggressive designs with RNO-G, which may lead to further improved sensitivity or event reconstruction capability. Drilling below the firm layer may provide significant increases in field-of-view due to fewer limitations in ray bending. However, care needs to be taken that any drill remains fast enough so as not to be the rate limiting step in installation and that personnel to operate the drill remains limited. Partly autonomous drilling operation is also under consideration.

Although subject to considerations such as firn thickness (which impacts drill depth) and ice temperature, local snow accumulation rate, average daily temperatures and the availability of solar and wind power, the station design is purposely general. This allows easy adaptation of the design for future larger in-ice arrays at other sites, such as IceCube-Gen2 at the South Pole.

The installation of both infrastructure (solar panels and communication antennas) and instrumentation is anticipated to be faster than hole-drilling. A drilling and installation team of seven people is foreseen for the first installation season, with installation beginning a week after commencing drilling. We project that an installation of up to 20 stations a year at Summit Station seems feasible. After installation, additional time will be required in the field to commission and validate station operation.

5.2 Calibration requirements and strategies

In order to optimally reconstruct events, the relative antenna positions must be known to a small fraction of the wavelength. Calibration using a local radio transmitter is necessary to achieve the



Figure 23. RNO-G installation plans are based on prior deployments of (a) surface stations at ARIANNA and (b) strings of antennas deployed in boreholes for ARA, both in compact phased arrays and reconstruction strings. A deployment shed for the drill and installation will be built on skis based on prior work done for ARA (c). Site studies conducted at Summit Station in Greenland also informed the installation plans (d).

required few-cm precision. Two deep transmitting antennas will be included with each station, as well as one at the surface. The calibration signal is generated in the surface controller board and sent downhole over RFoF. By measuring the relative time delays of the signal at each receiving antenna, the positions may be determined. After initial calibration, occasional runs of the pulser serve as a check of system stability.

An existing 740 m deep nearby borehole (DISC) [229], will also be used to send pulses to the array from various depths. This serves as a check of the antenna position and, by varying the depth of transmission, allows inversion of the radio properties of the ice. Understanding the refractive index profile of the firm is key to reconstruction and sensitivity modeling. Additional pulsing from the surface will be performed to further understand the ice.

Every station is equipped with a GPS, which will be used to synchronize event timing between stations at the 10 ns level. This is especially important for analyzing extensive air shower events, multi-station neutrino events and for absolute time difference measurements useful for ice studies. The GPS will also track the movement of station locations with the ice flow, which will provide valuable input for ice-modeling. A higher timing precision between stations can be obtained if suitable transmitters are identified at site [230] or through the usage of airplane signals [231]. This may also allow the combined reconstruction of neutrino signals detected in multiple stations [195], which would then yield improved precision.

All S-parameters of amplifiers, cables, and components will be calibrated before installation. Experience from radio air shower arrays has shown that a measurement of all individual components, including a temperature-dependent gain correction will be crucial to reduce systematic uncertainties. A continually-updated MongoDB database fully integrated with the simulation and reconstruction software [196, 216] will be used to track the parameters of all components.

5.3 Operations and data systems

The acquisition software on the Single-board computer (SBC) adjusts the trigger thresholds to maintain as fast a trigger rate as possible (O(10 Hz)) without incurring significant deadtime. This high sustained rate drives system performance downstream, so second-stage filtering is applied

on the SBC to reduce the rate of saved triggers to a time-averaged 1 Hz. Additionally, 0.1 Hz of forced-trigger data will be recorded at regular intervals to help characterize the noise environment.

The on-disk compressed size of each event is an estimated 30 kB, implying an average data rate of around 260 kbps per station at 1.1 Hz. The LTE network can easily accommodate this rate with a relatively low duty-cycle at each modem, thereby saving power. This rate allows storage for six weeks on the local SD cards in the event of an unexpected network outage. If more time is needed, the station can be instructed via LoraWAN to reduce the rate. In the unlikely case of simultaneous LTE and LoraWAN failure, the software on the station will automatically throttle the rate. Once data is transmitted to Summit Station, it will be stored on a redundant disk array for collection each summer. At the estimated 1 TB/station/per year of data, full build-out requires a redundant storage capacity (with margin) of 35 TB, which can easily be achieved with a single commodity rack server (e.g. Dell PowerEdge R7515).

All instrument status data and event metadata as well as a subset of the waveform data (5 GB/day total) will be transmitted with low latency via Summit Station's satellite link to the University of Wisconsin for monitoring and quality assurance. A small portion of available bandwidth will be reserved for remote login for any configuration changes or remote maintenance required. The JADE software [232] successfully developed and deployed for IceCube data management will be used for RNO-G. For data acquisition performance, all data is initially stored in a compressed packed-binary format resembling the in-memory format used by the data acquisition system. Converters will be maintained from the raw data format to more convenient archival formats (e.g. HDF5).

All low-latency data will be readily available to the collaboration via an interactive monitoring web site.¹ A comprehensive set of checks on the metadata and system health will be performed by the computer systems at Summit Station. Any anomalies will result in an email alert.

Monitoring duty will be apportioned to institutes on a rotating basis. While monitoring, an institution is responsible for timely investigation of all alerts and daily checks of the low-latency data for potential issues. Weekly monitoring reports will be issued to provide historical context for any issues that may arise.

Several mock stations, taking pure thermal noise data from terminated amplifiers, will be operated at collaborating institutions. These provide a testing ground for any configuration changes, assist with training, and help debug any issues that may arise. The pure thermal noise data also serves as a useful tool in developing analyses.

6 Projected sensitivity of RNO-G

In order to calculate the sensitivity of RNO-G, we have simulated the full 35-station array with a detailed modelling of the baseline hardware. Simulations for radio detectors are constantly evolving, incorporating experience from air shower simulations [38, 233–235] and previous codes for neutrino radio detectors [217, 236–238].

All simulation results presented herein have been performed with the NuRadioMC code [196]. For the same emission model, ice model and detector quantities, the results of this code have been shown to agree to the percent level with previous and independent codes, both for single event

¹Based on https://github.com/vPhase/monutor.

signatures as well as for the calculations of effective volumes. It has been found that the triggerlevel sensitivities are in particular affected by the precise implementation of the trigger, the exact frequency band of the detector, the noise temperature of the system, the chosen emission model describing the Askaryan effect, whether a complete array is simulated or the array is scaled up from one station (impacting the number of events detected by multiple stations), and whether the interactions of secondary particles (taus and muons) are included in the sensitivity calculation. The latter three factors are most significant, with variations up to 50% in effective area depending on the energy. Since, in the design process, many of the instrument parameters are not completely fixed, we carefully quote in the following the assumptions made for the array and the hardware, bearing in mind that these design sensitivities are subject to change as the instrument design matures.

For the simulations, we use as a simplified proxy for the trigger in section 4.3, a single vertical dipole per station with an amplitude threshold. A range of thresholds was used from $1.5\sigma_{noise}$ to $2.5\sigma_{noise}$ to account for possible variations in the exact design of the phased-array. Currently, $2.0\sigma_{noise}$ is the expected to be the best proxy for the phased-array trigger using 4 dipole antennas that is in production (see figure 18). Dipoles are simulated at 100 m of depth, roughly at the same depth as the planned phased array.

We have simulated the response of a dipole of 50 cm length similar to the one in figure 14 and used it for the sensitivity calculation. The simulations performed with XFdtd [239] provide full gain and phase information as a function of incoming signal direction.

We have used NuRadioMC [196] with the *ARZ2020* parameterization given in [197, 240] as our model for signal emission. We have included triggers induced by secondary particles produced by the outgoing lepton after a charged current (CC) interaction, following the procedure outlined in [195]. The simulated station layout is that shown in figure 7, with 35 stations having 1 km spacing between them on a rectangular grid.

We first discuss the sensitivity of RNO-G to a diffuse neutrino flux and how the neutrino energy will be determined, then its angular sensitivity and lastly the sensitivity to a transient event. We will also briefly report on the expected sensitivity to air shower signals.

6.1 Sensitivity to diffuse flux

Figure 24 shows the expected 90% CL upper limit to an all-flavor flux for 5 years of operation of the full 35 station array, assuming a 67% duty cycle, as expected under only solar power. This is using effective volumes for an isotropic all-sky flux and full-decade energy bins. See [196] for more details on the V_{eff} calculation, and the inclusion of the interaction length to convert from A_{eff} to V_{eff} .

We have applied the Feldman-Cousins method [243] for no detected events and zero background. The zero background assumption is justified as a first approximation, as according to table 1, we expect ~ 0.58 detected muons over the full energy range for five years of operation time (using SIBYLL 2.3C for signal generation and a $2\sigma_{noise}$ proxy).

The expected upper limit is shown in figure 24 along with other experimental bounds and model predictions. The red band shows the expected range of 90% CL upper limits for noise levels varying from $1.5\sigma_{noise}$ -equivalent trigger (lower part of the band) to $2.5\sigma_{noise}$ -equivalent trigger (higher part), and includes 95% CL contours due to the effective volume uncertainty. The black band shows the obtained 90% CL sensitivity for a $2.0\sigma_{noise}$ -equivalent trigger, which is the most realistic assumption for the RNO-G experiment. We also show in figure 24 the sensitivity for a



Figure 24. The five-year sensitivity (90% CL upper limits) of RNO-G to the all-flavor diffuse flux for 35 stations (assuming the stations are active two thirds of the total time), compared with existing experiments and several predicted fluxes [4, 23, 241, 242]. The red band represents the differential sensitivity band for a range of phased array proxies, spanning the interval from $1.5\sigma_{noise}$ to $2.5\sigma_{noise}$ using decade energy bins. 95% CL contours are represented by the orange band. The black band is the sensitivity expected for a 2.0 σ_{noise} trigger, including 95% CL contours. The purple band depicts the expected integrated sensitivity (90% CL upper limits) for an IceCube-like flux, over the $[1.5\sigma_{noise}, 2.5\sigma_{noise}]$ trigger range.

single power law spectrum with exponents in the range indicated by the flux observed in IceCube. The purple band represents the upper limit for the IceCube flux spanned by the $[1.5\sigma_{noise}, 2.5\sigma_{noise}]$ range. The dashed line in the middle of the band is the result for the $2.0\sigma_{noise}$ trigger. These upper limits have been calculated using the expected number of events above 20 PeV for a range IceCube flux spectral indices and finding that value that yields the number of events equal to the Feldman-Cousins 90% CL upper limit under the assumption of no background. The median upper limit exponents for the plausible trigger range cover the interval [-2.24, -2.19], with -2.21 being the median upper limit spectral index for a $2.0\sigma_{noise}$ trigger. If no neutrino events are detected, RNO-G will be able to exclude IceCube-like fluxes above these levels.

6.2 Energy measurement

The ability of RNO-G to measure the neutrino spectrum will depend on the accuracy at which the energy of each event can be determined. The relation between the neutrino energy E_{ν} and the amplitude $|\vec{E}|$ of the electric field of the radio signal at the station is given by:

$$|\vec{E}| \sim E_{\nu} \cdot y \cdot f(\varphi) \cdot \frac{\exp(-d/l_{\text{atten}})}{d}$$
(6.1)

where y is the fraction of the neutrino energy deposited into the shower, and $f(\varphi)$ a dependence on the angle under which the particle shower is observed. The last term accounts for the attenuation of the radio signal as it travels to the antenna, with d being the distance of the interaction vertex from the station and l_{atten} the attenuation length of the ice.



Figure 25. Neutrino interaction vertex reconstruction for one event using correlations between different channels (top left), correlations between different rays reaching the same antenna (top right) and a combination of both (bottom). Colors specify the normalized sum of correlations between channels, shifted by the difference in signal travel time expected for a given vertex position.

In general, the (*inelasticity*) fraction y of the neutrino energy that contributes to a particle shower undergoes event-by-event fluctuations and cannot be reconstructed on a single-event basis. It therefore must be estimated from theory, resulting in a statistical uncertainty of, on average, a factor of ~ 2 [21]. This restriction imposes a hard bound on the energy resolution obtainable with any neutrino detector that only observes the cascade. The goal is therefore to reconstruct the other parameters in eq. (6.1) precisely enough for the uncertainty in y to be dominant. It should be noted that in case of an electron neutrino interaction, the full amount of energy is transferred to two particle showers very close to each other, which argues against having the unknown fraction y as bound. However, these two cascades can interfere constructively or destructively and pure-electromagetic cascades are subject to the LPM-effect [244, 245] at high energies, which changes their radio emission [246]. This makes it reasonable to treat the inelasticity for all cases as bound in a first general consideration.

The resolution on the RNO-G measurement of the full electric field $|\vec{E}|$ depends on a number of factors. Ideally, the amplitude should be obtained for all polarization components, with separate levels of noise. In general, the larger the detected amplitude of the signals (larger measured signalto-noise ratio (SNR_m), see below), the smaller the influence of noise on the uncertainty. Similarly, noise effects are mitigated as antenna hit-multiplicities increase. As the Hpol antennas have lower gain than the Vpol antennas, the Hpol signals will typically have smaller SNR_m. Several methods such as *forward folding* [196], template matching [19], or information field theory [247] can be used to mitigate noise effects; nevertheless, the obtainable resolution of the amplitude will vary significantly from event to event.

It should be pointed out that using SNR_m differs from the situation of simulations (as defined in section 3.2), as the true amplitude of the signal S without noise is unknown, so the measured SNR_m = (signal + noise) / noise. Using a definition of SNR_m = $0.5(\max(S) - \min(S))/\sigma_{\text{noise}}$, a typical waveform of the length of RNO-G has a roughly 50% chance of reaching SNR_m = 3 simply by fluctuations of noise. At SNR_m = 3.5 this probability is reduced to about 1%.

Due to constructive interference, the radio signal emitted by the particle shower is strongest if viewed directly at the Cherenkov angle, and diminishes (in a frequency-dependent manner) the further the observer viewing angle departs from the Cherenkov angle. As shown in figure 4, the higher frequencies lose signal coherence earliest. Therefore, the shape of the frequency spectrum of the signal can be used to reconstruct the viewing angle relative to the Cherenkov angle and, ultimately, make a correction. This method has been demonstrated for particle showers in air [206], and our first simulations indicate the same to be true for neutrino showers. Quantitatively, we anticipate that $f(\varphi)$ will be obtainable for RNO-G for signals detected with at least a measured SNR_m = 3.5.

The signal pathlength d (eq. (6.1)) will depend on the reconstruction of the interaction vertex, so the resolution of the vertex position is another important ingredient for energy reconstruction.

Figure 25 shows one example of vertex reconstruction for a simulated neutrino interaction detected with RNO-G. This method to obtain the vertex position is based on cross-correlating the signals detected in all antennas with each other and deriving a probability map of the vertex location. Especially for those events in which RNO-G records both the direct emission, as well as the one reflected at-/refracted-below the surface, the resolution on the vertex position will be excellent, making the unknown factor y (eq. (6.1)) the dominating uncertainty. Further work will be carried out to determine the fraction of events for which a good vertex resolution will be obtainable and the SNR_m for which this will be possible. Preliminary results indicate that, conservatively, an analysis efficiency at least corresponding to the green curve in figure 11 is reachable for the vertex and thereby energy reconstruction.

The profile of the attenuation length of the ice in Greenland, which defines l_{atten} in eq. (6.1) has been measured [41] and is used for the simulations. The remaining systematic uncertainty and variations across the array will be addressed by additional calibration campaigns as discussed in section 5.2.

6.3 Angular sensitivity

The sky coverage of RNO-G is mostly determined by the geometry of its location in Greenland. In figure 26 we show the effective areas for different zenith angle bands for RNO-G, as well as their projection onto equatorial coordinates. Outside of these bands, the effective area decreases rapidly (see also [195]), making RNO-G mostly sensitive to an annulus of roughly 45° just above the horizon.

The ability of RNO-G to provide an accurate arrival direction for detected neutrinos depends on its ability to detect the signal arrival direction and the angle with respect to the Cherenkov cone, as well as the signal polarization, and is again a strong function of the number of antennas with detected signal and their SNR_m .

The signal arrival direction can be directly determined from the time difference in the captured channel-by-channel waveforms, using (for example) cross-correlation. The obtained resolution is a



Figure 26. RNO-G instantaneous sky coverage. Left: simulated effective area as a function of neutrino energy is shown for the four most sensitive zenith bands, centered at 50° , 60° , 70° , and 80° . Simulations were performed for the full RNO-G array of 35 stations with a distance of 1 km. Right: these bands are projected in Right Ascension (RA) and Declination (Dec) for one particular time of day to illustrate the instantaneous sky coverage. Bands outside this range still show some, albeit a strongly reduced (< 0.1 fraction of maximum effective area), sensitivity for neutrino interactions.

function of the number of antennas with signal; sub-degree values have typically been obtained by previous experiments [4, 16, 21, 22]. Knowing only the arrival direction for the signal at a specific station, the neutrino arrival direction can be determined to lie on a cone, projecting to a ring on-sky as shown in figure 27. Only a fraction of the ring corresponds to a probable physical solution, as many arrival directions can be excluded by the known Earth absorption.

The radio signal is the strongest on the Cherenkov cone and then weakens once the angle to the shower axis deviates from the Cherenkov angle. Depending on the type of event, viewing angles of more than 10 degrees with respect to the Cherenkov angle may still be observable. As discussed in section 6.2, the electric-field is a function of the viewing angle, as the higher frequencies fall off further away from the Cherenkov cone, so the viewing angle is reconstructable via the frequency slope. Combining signal arrival direction and viewing angle narrows the ring of possible arrival directions.

As the radio signal is due to the Askaryan effect, the polarization of the induced electric-field points radially inwards towards the shower axis. Therefore, a measure of the polarization is needed for a unique neutrino arrival direction. As shown in figure 27, adding polarization allows reducing the entire ring to a small patch on the sky. The absolute angular resolution as function of energy, elevation and SNR_m per antenna is still under study. Thus, figure 27 has been constructed to highlight the influence of different signal parameters on the angular resolution, while using a simulated event, as detectable in RNO-G, including noise but no detector uncertainties. The event shown has an SNR_m ≈ 6 in both Vpol and Hpol antennas, meaning that all pulses can be clearly identified.

6.4 Sensitivity to transient events

Using the same simulations as performed for section 6.1, the sensitivity of RNO-G to transient events has been obtained, as shown in figure 28. Most models predict small neutrinos fluxes in the energy range of RNO-G, as compiled in figure 3. However, given, e.g., large uncertainties in the modelling of mergers of neutron stars and that this area of multi-messenger astronomy is still in its infancy, RNO-G may make serendipitous discoveries. Its location in the Northern hemisphere



Figure 27. Radio neutrino detector arrival direction reconstruction. Given the limited field of view, the reconstructed signal arrival direction restricts the neutrino arrival direction to the red circular band shown. Adding information from the frequency content constrains the viewing angle, and reduces the width of the band. Finally, including data from both Hpol and Vpol antennas, polarization reconstruction reduces the allowed arrival direction to a small area on sky. The reconstruction and uncertainties are shown for one event simulated for RNO-G with NuRadioMC. The coordinates are local azimuth and zenith angle.

makes it uniquely sensitive, and complementary to other planned radio neutrino observatories in the Southern Hemisphere.

GRBs and other cataclysmic events are promising candidates for transient flares of UHE neutrinos. GRB afterglows are expected to produce the highest energy neutrinos over months-long time scales [49]. Short GRBs resulting from binary neutron star mergers may be detectable with RNO-G if they are nearby or connected with the production of giant flares from magnetars [248]. Similarly, magnetars resulting from binary neutron star mergers can drive UHE neutrino production [131]. As shown in figure 28, RNO-G can constrain the neutrino fluence from GRB afterglows, short GRBs, and long-lived magnetars within tens of Megaparsecs. Furthermore, Tidal Disruption Events (TDEs) are another cataclysmic source class still in the infancy of their discovery, with frequent new observations and population increases thanks to transient observatories such as the Zwicky Transient Facility (ZTF) [249]. As more is uncovered about their nature, they may also become a viable multi-messenger target for RNO-G.

Flaring blazars are particularly interesting targets for RNO-G. As an example, a model of the neutrino fluence expected from the flare of the bright gamma-ray blazar PKS 1502+106 [132] is compared to the RNO-G sensitivities in figure 28. This particular blazar is an FSRQ, which are notable for their expected high UHE neutrino fluxes [71], and spatially coincident with a "golden" event (IC190730A) seen in IceCube [250, 251]. In the model, neutrinos are produced in the two different scenarios that are consistent with multi-wavelength photon observations, but the neutrino spectrum is strongly impacted by the radiation mechanism. Stacking searches in RNO-G for flares of blazars or multi-messenger driven searches may reveal UHE neutrinos or constrain the neutrino spectrum at the highest energies. Note that while PKS 1506+106 is at a distant redshift, closer blazars will have a stronger neutrino fluence.



Figure 28. 95% CL fluence sensitivities between triggers at $1.5\sigma_{noise}$ and $2.5\sigma_{noise}$ are shown for four zenith bands centered at (top to bottom) 50° (green), 60° (blue), 70° (purple), and 80° (red). Sensitivities are calculated for a full decade in energy. Model-predicted fluences from several transient classes (bright gamma-ray blazars [132], short GRBs [130], magnetars [131], and GRB afterglows [49]) are also shown for direct comparison. We scale the short GRB and GRB afterglows by several luminosity distances to demonstrate the distance over which RNO-G will be sensitive to transients; a similar scaling can be applied to other source classes. For the calculation of sensitivities here we have used an integrated background expectation of no events. Note that for longer duration transients, integrated background may become non-negligible.

RNO-G has unique capabilities to process alerts in nearly real time. Summit Station's continuous satellite link and the LTE communications strategy can permit alerts from other multi-messenger observatories to be sent to and from the RNO-G stations.

6.5 Sensitivity to air shower signals

RNO-G will be equipped with upward-facing LPDAs, sensitive to air shower signals. These will be triggered through the auxiliary trigger as described in section 4.3. First simulations indicate a turn-on of the trigger efficiency to air showers between 1×10^{16} eV and 1×10^{17} eV, with details depending on the exact system noise temperature and environmental noise conditions that will need to be confirmed during the first deployment season in-situ. The DAQ is designed to store 0.1 Hz of triggers from the surface antennas, dedicated to the detection of air showers. The passband of the envelope trigger has been optimized for the highest surface antenna trigger efficiency and will be between 80 MHz and 180 MHz. We expect the detection in the order of one air shower per day per station.

The air shower trigger at RNO-G will serve two purposes. As discussed in section 3.4, the muonic component of air showers may constitute a background for neutrino detection with RNO-G. While the flux of these background events depends strongly on the composition of the cosmic ray flux, as well as hadronic interaction models, the safest way to contain the impact of this background is to unambiguously tag air showers. RNO-G will therefore continue to be optimized to provide

its own air shower veto. In addition, air shower reconstruction will help calibrate the system and ensure an independent cross-check of up-time and efficiency.

7 Conclusions

We have presented the concept of the Radio Neutrino Observatory in Greenland (RNO-G), currently scheduled to commence installation at Summit Station in 2021. The location in Greenland both drives design considerations, such as autonomous low-power stations, and, given the unique field of view from the Northern Hemisphere, also defines the strong science case.

The RNO-G hardware builds on previous radio array experience and strives for a very low-noise system that can sustain a low trigger-threshold, but high duty-cycle operation of autonomous stations. Each of the 35 RNO-G stations will consist of log-periodic dipole antennas deployed at the surface and custom-made dipole and tri- or quad-slot antennas deployed in three mechanically drilled holes to a depth of 100 m. The stations will mainly be triggered by a phased array of four deep dipoles at the 100 m maximum depth, which will ensure the best neutrino aperture. Auxiliary envelope triggers are available for low-power operations in the seasons with less abundant solar-power and for reading out the surface antennas to detect and veto air showers.

RNO-G will be the first uniform deployment of a neutrino radio array that will demonstrate the feasibility of scaling to arbitrarily large arrays. The delivered per-year sensitivity will be the largest achieved to-date with a radio array. RNO-G with its unique view of the Northern hemisphere may provide insights into transient sources of UHE neutrinos and will bring the detection of a continuation of the astrophysical neutrinos flux to high energies as detected by IceCube within reach. Additionally, models for cosmogenic neutrinos assuming a significant proton fraction in UHE cosmic-rays will be either be conclusively ruled out or will lead, if confirmed, to a detection of neutrinos with RNO-G.

Acknowledgments

We would like to acknowledge our home institutions and funding agencies for supporting the RNO-G work; in particular the Belgian Funds for Scientific Research (FRS-FNRS and FWO) and the FWO programme for International Research Infrastructure (IRI), the German research foundation (DFG, Grant NE 2031/2-1), and the Helmholtz Association (Initiative and Networking Fund, W2/W3 Program).

References

- [1] ICECUBE GEN2 collaboration, *IceCube-Gen2: the window to the extreme universe*, arXiv:2008.04323.
- [2] RICE collaboration, *Performance and simulation of the RICE detector*, *Astropart. Phys.* **19** (2003) 15 [astro-ph/0112372].
- [3] I. Kravchenko et al., *RICE limits on the diffuse ultrahigh energy neutrino flux*, *Phys. Rev. D* 73 (2006) 082002 [astro-ph/0601148].

- [4] ARA collaboration, Performance of two Askaryan Radio Array stations and first results in the search for ultrahigh energy neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 082003 [arXiv:1507.08991].
- [5] P. Allison et al., *Design and initial performance of the Askaryan Radio Array prototype EeV neutrino detector at the south pole*, *Astropart. Phys.* **35** (2012) 457 [arXiv:1105.2854].
- [6] ARA collaboration, Constraints on the diffuse flux of ultrahigh energy neutrinos from four years of Askaryan Radio Array data in two stations, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 043021 [arXiv:1912.00987].
- [7] ARIANNA collaboration, A first search for cosmogenic neutrinos with the ARIANNA hexagonal radio array, Astropart. Phys. **70** (2015) 12 [arXiv:1410.7352].
- [8] S.W. Barwick et al., *Design and performance of the ARIANNA HRA-3 neutrino detector systems*, *IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci.* **62** (2015) 2202 [arXiv:1410.7369].
- [9] ANITA collaboration, The antarctic impulsive transient antenna ultra-high energy neutrino detector design, performance, and sensitivity for 2006–2007 balloon flight, Astropart. Phys. 32 (2009) 10 [arXiv:0812.1920].
- [10] ANITA collaboration, Observational constraints on the ultra-high energy cosmic neutrino flux from the second flight of the ANITA experiment, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 022004 [Erratum ibid. 85 (2012) 049901] [arXiv:1003.2961].
- [11] P. Allison et al., IceRay: an IceCube-centered radio-Cherenkov GZK neutrino detector, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 604 (2009) S64 [arXiv:0904.1309].
- [12] P. Allison et al., Design and performance of an interferometric trigger array for radio detection of high-energy neutrinos, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 930 (2019) 112 [arXiv:1809.04573].
- [13] P. Allison et al., Constraints on the ultra-high energy neutrino flux from gamma-ray bursts from a prototype station of the Askaryan Radio Array, Astropart. Phys. 88 (2017) 7 [arXiv:1507.00100].
- [14] P. Allison et al., Observation of reconstructable radio emission coincident with an X-class solar flare in the Askaryan Radio Array prototype station, arXiv:1807.03335.
- [15] K. Casey, T. Fudge, T. Neumann, E. Steig, M. Cavitte and D. Blankenship, *The* 1500 m south pole ice core: recovering a 40 ka environmental record, Annals Glaciol. 55 (2014) 137.
- [16] P. Allison et al., *Measurement of the real dielectric permittivity* ϵ_r *of glacial ice, Astropart. Phys.* **108** (2019) 63 [arXiv:1712.03301].
- [17] P. Allison et al., Long-baseline horizontal radio-frequency transmission through polar ice, JCAP 12 (2020) 009 [arXiv:1908.10689].
- [18] A. Nelles, A wind-turbine for autonomous stations for radio detection of neutrinos, PoS(ICRC2019)968 (2020).
- [19] S.W. Barwick et al., *Radio detection of air showers with the ARIANNA experiment on the Ross ice shelf, Astropart. Phys.* **90** (2017) 50 [arXiv:1612.04473].
- [20] A. Anker et al., A search for cosmogenic neutrinos with the ARIANNA test bed using 4.5 years of data, JCAP 03 (2020) 053 [arXiv:1909.00840].
- [21] A. Anker et al., Neutrino vertex reconstruction with in-ice radio detectors using surface reflections and implications for the neutrino energy resolution, JCAP 11 (2019) 030 [arXiv:1909.02677].
- [22] ARIANNA collaboration, Probing the angular and polarization reconstruction of the ARIANNA detector at the south pole, 2020 JINST 15 P09039 [arXiv:2006.03027].

- [23] ANITA collaboration, Constraints on the diffuse high-energy neutrino flux from the third flight of ANITA, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 022001 [arXiv:1803.02719].
- [24] ANITA collaboration, Observation of ultra-high-energy cosmic rays with the ANITA balloon-borne radio interferometer, Phys. Rev. Lett. **105** (2010) 151101 [arXiv:1005.0035].
- [25] H. Schoorlemmer et al., Energy and flux measurements of ultra-high energy cosmic rays observed during the first ANITA flight, Astropart. Phys. 77 (2016) 32 [arXiv:1506.05396].
- [26] ANITA collaboration, Characteristics of four upward-pointing cosmic-ray-like events observed with ANITA, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 071101 [arXiv:1603.05218].
- [27] ANITA collaboration, Observation of an unusual upward-going cosmic-ray-like event in the third flight of ANITA, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121** (2018) 161102 [arXiv:1803.05088].
- [28] A. Romero-Wolf et al., Comprehensive analysis of anomalous ANITA events disfavors a diffuse tau-neutrino flux origin, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 063011 [arXiv:1811.07261].
- [29] K.D. de Vries and S. Prohira, Coherent transition radiation from the geomagnetically-induced current in cosmic-ray air showers: implications for the anomalous events observed by ANITA, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019) 091102 [arXiv:1903.08750].
- [30] I.M. Shoemaker, A. Kusenko, P.K. Munneke, A. Romero-Wolf, D.M. Schroeder and M.J. Siegert, *Reflections on the anomalous ANITA events: the antarctic subsurface as a possible explanation*, *Annals Glaciol.* **61** (2020) 92 [arXiv:1905.02846].
- [31] D. Saltzberg et al., Observation of the Askaryan effect: coherent microwave Cherenkov emission from charge asymmetry in high-energy particle cascades, Phys. Rev. Lett. 86 (2001) 2802 [hep-ex/0011001].
- [32] P.W. Gorham et al., Accelerator measurements of the Askaryan effect in rock salt: a roadmap toward teraton underground neutrino detectors, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 023002 [astro-ph/0412128].
- [33] ANITA collaboration, Observations of the Askaryan effect in ice, Phys. Rev. Lett. **99** (2007) 171101 [hep-ex/0611008].
- [34] T-510 collaboration, Accelerator measurements of magnetically-induced radio emission from particle cascades with applications to cosmic-ray air showers, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 141103 [arXiv:1507.07296].
- [35] LOPES collaboration, Detection and imaging of atmospheric radio flashes from cosmic ray air showers, Nature 435 (2005) 313 [astro-ph/0505383].
- [36] D. Ardouin et al., Geomagnetic origin of the radio emission from cosmic ray induced air showers observed by CODALEMA, Astropart. Phys. 31 (2009) 192 [arXiv:0901.4502].
- [37] PIERRE AUGER collaboration, Measurement of the radiation energy in the radio signal of extensive air showers as a universal estimator of cosmic-ray energy, Phys. Rev. Lett. **116** (2016) 241101 [arXiv:1605.02564].
- [38] P. Schellart et al., *Detecting cosmic rays with the LOFAR radio telescope*, *Astron. Astrophys.* **560** (2013) A98 [arXiv:1311.1399].
- [39] TUNKA-REX collaboration, Radio measurements of the energy and the depth of the shower maximum of cosmic-ray air showers by Tunka-Rex, JCAP 01 (2016) 052 [arXiv:1509.05652].
- [40] S.A. Wissel et al., Site characterization and detector development for the Greenland neutrino observatory, PoS(ICRC2015)1150 (2016).

- [41] J. Avva, J.M. Kovac, C. Miki, D. Saltzberg and A.G. Vieregg, An in situ measurement of the radio-frequency attenuation in ice at summit station, Greenland, J. Glaciol. 61 (2015) 1005 [arXiv:1409.5413].
- [42] C. Deaconu et al., Measurements and modeling of near-surface radio propagation in glacial ice and implications for neutrino experiments, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 043010 [arXiv:1805.12576].
- [43] M. Ahlers, Neutrino sources from a multi-messenger perspective, in Proceedings, 7th Roma International Conference on Astroparticle Physics (RICAP18), Rome, Italy, 4–7 September 2018 [EPJ Web Conf. 209 (2019) 01013] [arXiv:1811.07633].
- [44] K. Fang and K. Murase, Linking high-energy cosmic particles by black hole jets embedded in large-scale structures, Nature Phys. 14 (2018) 396 [arXiv:1704.00015].
- [45] K. Fang, K. Kotera, K. Murase and A.V. Olinto, *Testing the newborn pulsar origin of ultrahigh energy cosmic rays with EeV neutrinos*, *Phys. Rev. D* 90 (2014) 103005 [Erratum ibid. 92 (2015) 129901] [arXiv:1311.2044].
- [46] D. Boncioli, D. Biehl and W. Winter, On the common origin of cosmic rays across the ankle and diffuse neutrinos at the highest energies from low-luminosity gamma-ray bursts, Astrophys. J. 872 (2019) 110 [arXiv:1808.07481].
- [47] K. Murase, Y. Inoue and C.D. Dermer, *Diffuse neutrino intensity from the inner jets of active galactic nuclei: impacts of external photon fields and the blazar sequence*, *Phys. Rev. D* 90 (2014) 023007 [arXiv:1403.4089].
- [48] X. Rodrigues, J. Heinze, A. Palladino, A. van Vliet and W. Winter, *AGN jets as the origin of UHECRs and perspectives for the detection of EeV astrophysical neutrinos*, arXiv:2003.08392.
- [49] K. Murase, High energy neutrino early afterglows gamma-ray bursts revisited, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 123001 [arXiv:0707.1140].
- [50] J. Heinze, A. Fedynitch, D. Boncioli and W. Winter, A new view on Auger data and cosmogenic neutrinos in light of different nuclear disintegration and air-shower models, Astrophys. J. 873 (2019) 88 [arXiv:1901.03338].
- [51] A. van Vliet, R. Alves Batista and J.R. Hörandel, Determining the fraction of cosmic-ray protons at ultrahigh energies with cosmogenic neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 021302 [arXiv:1901.01899].
- [52] FERMI-LAT collaboration, The spectrum of isotropic diffuse gamma-ray emission between 100 MeV and 820 GeV, Astrophys. J. 799 (2015) 86 [arXiv:1410.3696].
- [53] ICECUBE collaboration, A measurement of the diffuse astrophysical muon neutrino flux using eight years of IceCube data, PoS(ICRC2017)1005 (2018) [arXiv:1710.01191].
- [54] ICECUBE collaboration, Observation of astrophysical neutrinos in six years of IceCube data, PoS(ICRC2017)981 (2018) [arXiv:1710.01191].
- [55] ICECUBE collaboration, Differential limit on the extremely-high-energy cosmic neutrino flux in the presence of astrophysical background from nine years of IceCube data, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 062003 [arXiv:1807.01820].
- [56] PIERRE AUGER collaboration, The Pierre Auger observatory: contributions to the 34th International Cosmic Ray Conference (ICRC 2015), in Proceedings, 34th International Cosmic Ray Conference (ICRC 2015), The Hague, The Netherlands, 30 July–6 August 2015 [arXiv:1509.03732].

- [57] ICECUBE collaboration, Evidence for high-energy extraterrestrial neutrinos at the IceCube detector, Science 342 (2013) 1242856 [arXiv:1311.5238].
- [58] ICECUBE collaboration, Observation of high-energy astrophysical neutrinos in three years of IceCube data, Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) 101101 [arXiv:1405.5303].
- [59] ICECUBE collaboration, Evidence for astrophysical muon neutrinos from the northern sky with IceCube, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 081102 [arXiv:1507.04005].
- [60] ICECUBE collaboration, Observation and characterization of a cosmic muon neutrino flux from the northern hemisphere using six years of IceCube data, Astrophys. J. 833 (2016) 3 [arXiv:1607.08006].
- [61] ICECUBE, FERMI-LAT, MAGIC, AGILE, ASAS-SN, HAWC, H.E.S.S., INTEGRAL, KANATA, KISO, KAPTEYN, LIVERPOOL TELESCOPE, SUBARU, SWIFT NUSTAR, VERITAS and VLA/17B-403 collaborations, *Multimessenger observations of a flaring blazar coincident with high-energy neutrino IceCube*-170922A, *Science* 361 (2018) eaat1378 [arXiv:1807.08816].
- [62] ICECUBE collaboration, Neutrino emission from the direction of the blazar TXS 0506 + 056 prior to the IceCube-170922A alert, Science 361 (2018) 147 [arXiv:1807.08794].
- [63] M. Ackermann et al., Astrophysics uniquely enabled by observations of high-energy cosmic neutrinos, Bull. Am. Astron. Soc. 51 (2019) 185 [arXiv:1903.04334].
- [64] M. Ackermann et al., Fundamental physics with high-energy cosmic neutrinos, Bull. Am. Astron. Soc. 51 (2019) 215 [arXiv:1903.04333].
- [65] V.S. Berezinsky and G.T. Zatsepin, *Cosmic rays at ultrahigh-energies (neutrino?)*, *Phys. Lett. B* **28** (1969) 423.
- [66] M. Ahlers and F. Halzen, *Minimal cosmogenic neutrinos*, *Phys. Rev. D* 86 (2012) 083010 [arXiv:1208.4181].
- [67] A. van Vliet, CRPropa simulations, similar to PoS(ICRC2019)190, private communication, (2019).
- [68] TELESCOPE ARRAY collaboration, *Combined fit of the spectrum and composition from Telescope Array*, PoS(ICRC2019)190 (2020).
- [69] PIERRE AUGER collaboration, Combined fit of spectrum and composition data as measured by the Pierre Auger observatory, JCAP 04 (2017) 038 [Erratum ibid. 03 (2018) E02] [arXiv:1612.07155].
- [70] PIERRE AUGER and TELESCOPE ARRAY collaborations, *The energy spectrum of ultra-high energy cosmic rays measured at the Pierre Auger observatory and at the Telescope Array*, PoS(ICRC2019)234 (2020) [arXiv:2001.08811].
- [71] C. Righi, A. Palladino, F. Tavecchio and F. Vissani, *EeV astrophysical neutrinos from flat spectrum radio quasars, Astron. Astrophys.* 642 (2020) A92 [arXiv:2003.08701].
- [72] K. Murase and E. Waxman, Constraining high-energy cosmic neutrino sources: implications and prospects, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 103006 [arXiv:1607.01601].
- [73] S. Ando, M.R. Feyereisen and M. Fornasa, *How bright can the brightest neutrino source be?*, *Phys. Rev. D* 95 (2017) 103003 [arXiv:1701.02165].
- [74] ICECUBE collaboration, *The contribution of Fermi-2LAC blazars to the diffuse TeV-PeV neutrino flux*, *Astrophys. J.* **835** (2017) 45 [arXiv:1611.03874].

- [75] A. Neronov, D.V. Semikoz and K. Ptitsyna, Strong constraints on hadronic models of blazar activity from Fermi and IceCube stacking analysis, Astron. Astrophys. 603 (2017) A135 [arXiv:1611.06338].
- [76] ICECUBE collaboration, Results of IceCube searches for neutrinos from blazars using seven years of through-going muon data, PoS(ICRC2017)994 (2018) [arXiv:1710.01179].
- [77] D. Hooper, T. Linden and A. Vieregg, *Active galactic nuclei and the origin of IceCube's diffuse neutrino flux*, *JCAP* 02 (2019) 012 [arXiv:1810.02823].
- [78] ICECUBE collaboration, *Time-integrated neutrino source searches with* 10 years of IceCube data, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **124** (2020) 051103 [arXiv:1910.08488].
- [79] TELESCOPE ARRAY collaboration, Indications of intermediate-scale anisotropy of cosmic rays with energy greater than 57 EeV in the northern sky measured with the surface detector of the Telescope Array experiment, Astrophys. J. Lett. **790** (2014) L21 [arXiv:1404.5890].
- [80] H.-N. He, A. Kusenko, S. Nagataki, B.-B. Zhang, R.-Z. Yang and Y.-Z. Fan, Monte Carlo Bayesian search for the plausible source of the Telescope Array hotspot, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 043011 [arXiv:1411.5273].
- [81] J. Quinn et al., Detection of gamma-rays with E > 300 GeV from Markarian 501, Astrophys. J. Lett. **456** (1996) L83.
- [82] M. Punch et al., Detection of TeV photons from the active galaxy Markarian 421, Nature 358 (1992) 477.
- [83] X.-Y. Wang and R.-Y. Liu, *Tidal disruption jets of supermassive black holes as hidden sources of cosmic rays: explaining the IceCube TeV-PeV neutrinos*, *Phys. Rev. D* 93 (2016) 083005 [arXiv:1512.08596].
- [84] L. Dai and K. Fang, Can tidal disruption events produce the IceCube neutrinos?, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 469 (2017) 1354 [arXiv:1612.00011].
- [85] N. Senno, K. Murase and P. Meszaros, *High-energy neutrino flares from X-ray bright and dark tidal disruption events*, *Astrophys. J.* 838 (2017) 3 [arXiv:1612.00918].
- [86] C. Lunardini and W. Winter, *High energy neutrinos from the tidal disruption of stars*, *Phys. Rev. D* 95 (2017) 123001 [arXiv:1612.03160].
- [87] B.T. Zhang, K. Murase, F. Oikonomou and Z. Li, *High-energy cosmic ray nuclei from tidal disruption events: origin, survival, and implications, Phys. Rev. D* 96 (2017) 063007 [Addendum ibid. 96 (2017) 069902] [arXiv:1706.00391].
- [88] D. Biehl, D. Boncioli, C. Lunardini and W. Winter, *Tidally disrupted stars as a possible origin of both cosmic rays and neutrinos at the highest energies*, *Sci. Rep.* 8 (2018) 10828 [arXiv:1711.03555].
- [89] C. Guépin, K. Kotera, E. Barausse, K. Fang and K. Murase, Ultra-high energy cosmic rays and neutrinos from tidal disruptions by massive black holes, Astron. Astrophys. 616 (2018) A179 [Erratum ibid. 636 (2020) C3] [arXiv:1711.11274].
- [90] K. Fang and B.D. Metzger, High-energy neutrinos from millisecond magnetars formed from the merger of binary neutron stars, Astrophys. J. 849 (2017) 153 [arXiv:1707.04263].
- [91] S.S. Kimura, K. Murase, I. Bartos, K. Ioka, I.S. Heng and P. Mészáros, *Transejecta high-energy neutrino emission from binary neutron star mergers*, *Phys. Rev. D* 98 (2018) 043020 [arXiv:1805.11613].

- [92] E. Waxman and J.N. Bahcall, *High-energy neutrinos from cosmological gamma-ray burst fireballs*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **78** (1997) 2292 [astro-ph/9701231].
- [93] J.P. Rachen and P. Meszaros, *Photohadronic neutrinos from transients in astrophysical sources*, *Phys. Rev. D* 58 (1998) 123005 [astro-ph/9802280].
- [94] C.D. Dermer and A. Atoyan, *High energy neutrinos from gamma-ray bursts*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 91 (2003) 071102 [astro-ph/0301030].
- [95] D. Guetta, D. Hooper, J. Alvarez-Muniz, F. Halzen and E. Reuveni, *Neutrinos from individual gamma-ray bursts in the BATSE catalog*, *Astropart. Phys.* 20 (2004) 429 [astro-ph/0302524].
- [96] S. Razzaque, P. Meszaros and E. Waxman, Neutrino signatures of the supernova: gamma-ray burst relationship, Phys. Rev. D 69 (2004) 023001 [astro-ph/0308239].
- [97] K. Murase and S. Nagataki, High energy neutrino emission and neutrino background from gamma-ray bursts in the internal shock model, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 063002 [astro-ph/0512275].
- [98] K. Murase, Prompt high-energy neutrinos from gamma-ray bursts in the photospheric and synchrotron self-Compton scenarios, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 101302 [arXiv:0807.0919].
- [99] X.-Y. Wang and Z.-G. Dai, Prompt TeV neutrinos from dissipative photospheres of gamma-ray bursts, Astrophys. J. Lett. 691 (2009) L67 [arXiv:0807.0290].
- [100] P. Baerwald, S. Hummer and W. Winter, Magnetic field and flavor effects on the gamma-ray burst neutrino flux, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 067303 [arXiv:1009.4010].
- [101] M. Ahlers, M.C. Gonzalez-Garcia and F. Halzen, GRBs on probation: testing the UHE CR paradigm with IceCube, Astropart. Phys. 35 (2011) 87 [arXiv:1103.3421].
- [102] K. Murase, K. Asano, T. Terasawa and P. Meszaros, *The role of stochastic acceleration in the prompt emission of gamma-ray bursts: application to hadronic injection*, *Astrophys. J.* 746 (2012) 164 [arXiv:1107.5575].
- [103] Z. Li, Note on the normalization of predicted GRB neutrino flux, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 027301 [arXiv:1112.2240].
- [104] S. Hummer, P. Baerwald and W. Winter, Neutrino emission from gamma-ray burst fireballs, revised, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 231101 [arXiv:1112.1076].
- [105] H.-N. He, R.-Y. Liu, X.-Y. Wang, S. Nagataki, K. Murase and Z.-G. Dai, *IceCube non-detection of GRBs: constraints on the fireball properties*, *Astrophys. J.* **752** (2012) 29 [arXiv:1204.0857].
- [106] B. Zhang and P. Kumar, Model-dependent high-energy neutrino flux from gamma-ray bursts, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 121101 [arXiv:1210.0647].
- [107] R.-Y. Liu and X.-Y. Wang, Diffuse PeV neutrinos from gamma-ray bursts, Astrophys. J. 766 (2013) 73 [arXiv:1212.1260].
- [108] S. Gao, K. Kashiyama and P. Mészáros, On the neutrino non-detection of GRB 130427A, Astrophys. J. Lett. 772 (2013) L4 [arXiv:1305.6055].
- [109] M. Petropoulou, The role of hadronic cascades in GRB models of efficient neutrino production, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 442 (2014) 3026 [arXiv:1405.7669].
- [110] M. Petropoulou, D. Giannios and S. Dimitrakoudis, *Implications of a PeV neutrino spectral cutoff in GRB models*, *Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc.* 445 (2014) 570 [arXiv:1405.2091].

- [111] M. Bustamante, P. Baerwald, K. Murase and W. Winter, Neutrino and cosmic-ray emission from multiple internal shocks in gamma-ray bursts, Nature Commun. 6 (2015) 6783 [arXiv:1409.2874].
- [112] X.-Y. Wang, S. Razzaque and P. Meszaros, On the origin and survival of UHE cosmic-ray nuclei in GRBs and hypernovae, Astrophys. J. 677 (2008) 432 [arXiv:0711.2065].
- [113] K. Murase, K. Ioka, S. Nagataki and T. Nakamura, *High-energy cosmic-ray nuclei from high- and low-luminosity gamma-ray bursts and implications for multi-messenger astronomy*, *Phys. Rev. D* 78 (2008) 023005 [arXiv:0801.2861].
- [114] A. Calvez, A. Kusenko and S. Nagataki, The role of galactic sources and magnetic fields in forming the observed energy-dependent composition of ultrahigh-energy cosmic rays, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 091101 [arXiv:1004.2535].
- [115] N. Globus, D. Allard, R. Mochkovitch and E. Parizot, UHECR acceleration at GRB internal shocks, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 451 (2015) 751 [arXiv:1409.1271].
- [116] D. Biehl, D. Boncioli, A. Fedynitch and W. Winter, Cosmic-ray and neutrino emission from gamma-ray bursts with a nuclear cascade, Astron. Astrophys. 611 (2018) A101 [arXiv:1705.08909].
- [117] B. Paczynski and G.H. Xu, Neutrino bursts from gamma-ray bursts, Astrophys. J. 427 (1994) 708.
- [118] I. Bartos, A.M. Beloborodov, K. Hurley and S. Márka, Detection prospects for GeV neutrinos from collisionally heated gamma-ray bursts with IceCube/DeepCore, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 241101 [arXiv:1301.4232].
- [119] K. Murase, K. Kashiyama and P. Mészáros, Subphotospheric neutrinos from gamma-ray bursts: the role of neutrons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) 131102 [arXiv:1301.4236].
- [120] K. Murase and S. Nagataki, High energy neutrino flash from far-UV/X-ray flares of gamma-ray bursts, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 051101 [astro-ph/0604437].
- [121] E. Waxman and J.N. Bahcall, Neutrino afterglow from gamma-ray bursts: similar to 10¹⁸ eV, Astrophys. J. 541 (2000) 707 [hep-ph/9909286].
- [122] C.D. Dermer, Neutrino, neutron, and cosmic ray production in the external shock model of gamma-ray bursts, Astrophys. J. 574 (2002) 65 [astro-ph/0005440].
- [123] S. Razzaque, Long-lived PeV-EeV neutrinos from gamma-ray burst blastwave, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 103003 [arXiv:1307.7596].
- [124] K. Murase, K. Ioka, S. Nagataki and T. Nakamura, *High energy neutrinos and cosmic-rays from low-luminosity gamma-ray bursts?*, *Astrophys. J. Lett.* 651 (2006) L5 [astro-ph/0607104].
- [125] N. Gupta and B. Zhang, Neutrino spectra from low and high luminosity populations of gamma ray bursts, Astropart. Phys. 27 (2007) 386 [astro-ph/0606744].
- [126] N. Senno, K. Murase and P. Meszaros, Choked jets and low-luminosity gamma-ray bursts as hidden neutrino sources, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 083003 [arXiv:1512.08513].
- [127] B.T. Zhang, K. Murase, S.S. Kimura, S. Horiuchi and P. Mészáros, Low-luminosity gamma-ray bursts as the sources of ultrahigh-energy cosmic ray nuclei, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 083010 [arXiv:1712.09984].
- [128] B.T. Zhang and K. Murase, Ultrahigh-energy cosmic-ray nuclei and neutrinos from engine-driven supernovae, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 103004 [arXiv:1812.10289].
- [129] A.G. Vieregg et al., The first limits on the ultra-high energy neutrino fluence from gamma-ray bursts, Astrophys. J. 736 (2011) 50 [arXiv:1102.3206].

- [130] S.S. Kimura, K. Murase, P. Mészáros and K. Kiuchi, *High-energy neutrino emission from short gamma-ray bursts: prospects for coincident detection with gravitational waves*, *Astrophys. J. Lett.* 848 (2017) L4 [arXiv:1708.07075].
- [131] K. Fang and B.D. Metzger, *High-energy neutrinos from millisecond magnetars formed from the merger of binary neutron stars*, *Astrophys. J.* 849 (2017) 153 [arXiv:1707.04263].
- [132] X. Rodrigues, S. Garrappa, S. Gao, V.S. Paliya, A. Franckowiak and W. Winter, *Multi-wavelength and neutrino emission from blazar PKS* 1502 + 106, arXiv: 2009.04026.
- [133] A. Connolly, R.S. Thorne and D. Waters, Calculation of high energy neutrino-nucleon cross sections and uncertainties using the MSTW parton distribution functions and implications for future experiments, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 113009 [arXiv:1102.0691].
- [134] A. Cooper-Sarkar, P. Mertsch and S. Sarkar, *The high energy neutrino cross-section in the Standard Model and its uncertainty*, JHEP 08 (2011) 042 [arXiv:1106.3723].
- [135] V. Bertone, R. Gauld and J. Rojo, Neutrino telescopes as QCD microscopes, JHEP 01 (2019) 217 [arXiv:1808.02034].
- [136] I. Romero and O.A. Sampayo, Leptoquarks signals in km³ neutrino telescopes, JHEP 05 (2009) 111 [arXiv:0906.5245].
- [137] D. Hooper, Measuring high-energy neutrino nucleon cross-sections with future neutrino telescopes, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 097303 [hep-ph/0203239].
- [138] S.R. Klein and A. Connolly, Neutrino absorption in the earth, neutrino cross-sections, and new physics, in Community summer study 2013: Snowmass on the Mississippi, (2013) [arXiv:1304.4891].
- [139] J. Ellis, K. Sakurai and M. Spannowsky, Search for sphalerons: IceCube vs. LHC, JHEP 05 (2016) 085 [arXiv:1603.06573].
- S.R. Klein, Probing high-energy interactions of atmospheric and astrophysical neutrinos, in Particle physics with neutrino telescopes, World Scientific, Singapore (2020), pg. 75
 [ISBN:978-981-3275-01-0] [arXiv:1906.02221].
- [141] M. Bustamante, J.F. Beacom and W. Winter, *Theoretically palatable flavor combinations of astrophysical neutrinos*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **115** (2015) 161302 [arXiv:1506.02645].
- [142] J.G. Learned and S. Pakvasa, Detecting tau-neutrino oscillations at PeV energies, Astropart. Phys. 3 (1995) 267 [hep-ph/9405296].
- [143] C.A. Argüelles, T. Katori and J. Salvado, New physics in astrophysical neutrino flavor, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 161303 [arXiv:1506.02043].
- [144] I.M. Shoemaker and K. Murase, Probing BSM neutrino physics with flavor and spectral distortions: prospects for future high-energy neutrino telescopes, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 085004 [arXiv:1512.07228].
- [145] M.C. Gonzalez-Garcia, M. Maltoni, I. Martinez-Soler and N. Song, Non-standard neutrino interactions in the earth and the flavor of astrophysical neutrinos, Astropart. Phys. 84 (2016) 15 [arXiv:1605.08055].
- [146] R.W. Rasmussen, L. Lechner, M. Ackermann, M. Kowalski and W. Winter, Astrophysical neutrinos flavored with beyond the Standard Model physics, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 083018 [arXiv:1707.07684].

- [147] M. Ahlers, M. Bustamante and S. Mu, Unitarity bounds of astrophysical neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 123023 [arXiv:1810.00893].
- [148] Y. Chikashige, R.N. Mohapatra and R.D. Peccei, Spontaneously broken lepton number and cosmological constraints on the neutrino mass spectrum, Phys. Rev. Lett. 45 (1980) 1926.
- [149] G.B. Gelmini, S. Nussinov and M. Roncadelli, Bounds and prospects for the majoron model of left-handed neutrino masses, Nucl. Phys. B 209 (1982) 157.
- [150] R. Tomas, H. Pas and J.W.F. Valle, Generalized bounds on majoron-neutrino couplings, Phys. Rev. D 64 (2001) 095005 [hep-ph/0103017].
- [151] J.F. Beacom, N.F. Bell, D. Hooper, S. Pakvasa and T.J. Weiler, Decay of high-energy astrophysical neutrinos, Phys. Rev. Lett. 90 (2003) 181301 [hep-ph/0211305].
- [152] P. Baerwald, M. Bustamante and W. Winter, *Neutrino decays over cosmological distances and the implications for neutrino telescopes*, JCAP 10 (2012) 020 [arXiv:1208.4600].
- [153] M. Bustamante, J.F. Beacom and K. Murase, *Testing decay of astrophysical neutrinos with incomplete information*, *Phys. Rev. D* 95 (2017) 063013 [arXiv:1610.02096].
- [154] P.B. Denton and I. Tamborra, Invisible neutrino decay could resolve IceCube's track and cascade tension, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 121802 [arXiv:1805.05950].
- [155] J.L. Feng, Dark matter candidates from particle physics and methods of detection, Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys. 48 (2010) 495 [arXiv:1003.0904].
- [156] J.F. Beacom, N.F. Bell and G.D. Mack, General upper bound on the dark matter total annihilation cross section, Phys. Rev. Lett. 99 (2007) 231301 [astro-ph/0608090].
- [157] H. Yuksel, S. Horiuchi, J.F. Beacom and S. Ando, Neutrino constraints on the dark matter total annihilation cross section, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 123506 [arXiv:0707.0196].
- [158] K. Murase and J.F. Beacom, Constraining very heavy dark matter using diffuse backgrounds of neutrinos and cascaded gamma rays, JCAP 10 (2012) 043 [arXiv:1206.2595].
- [159] B. Feldstein, A. Kusenko, S. Matsumoto and T.T. Yanagida, *Neutrinos at IceCube from heavy decaying dark matter*, *Phys. Rev. D* 88 (2013) 015004 [arXiv:1303.7320].
- [160] A. Esmaili and P.D. Serpico, Are IceCube neutrinos unveiling PeV-scale decaying dark matter?, JCAP 11 (2013) 054 [arXiv:1308.1105].
- [161] T. Higaki, R. Kitano and R. Sato, Neutrinoful universe, JHEP 07 (2014) 044 [arXiv:1405.0013].
- [162] C. Rott, K. Kohri and S.C. Park, Superheavy dark matter and IceCube neutrino signals: bounds on decaying dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 023529 [arXiv:1408.4575].
- [163] E. Dudas, Y. Mambrini and K.A. Olive, Monochromatic neutrinos generated by dark matter and the seesaw mechanism, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 075001 [arXiv:1412.3459].
- [164] Y. Ema, R. Jinno and T. Moroi, Cosmic-ray neutrinos from the decay of long-lived particle and the recent IceCube result, Phys. Lett. B 733 (2014) 120 [arXiv:1312.3501].
- [165] J. Zavala, Galactic PeV neutrinos from dark matter annihilation, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 123516 [arXiv:1404.2932].
- [166] K. Murase, R. Laha, S. Ando and M. Ahlers, *Testing the dark matter scenario for PeV neutrinos observed in IceCube*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **115** (2015) 071301 [arXiv:1503.04663].
- [167] L.A. Anchordoqui et al., IceCube neutrinos, decaying dark matter, and the Hubble constant, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 061301 [Erratum ibid. 94 (2016) 069901] [arXiv:1506.08788].

- [168] S.M. Boucenna et al., Decaying leptophilic dark matter at IceCube, JCAP 12 (2015) 055 [arXiv:1507.01000].
- [169] P.S.B. Dev, D. Kazanas, R.N. Mohapatra, V.L. Teplitz and Y. Zhang, *Heavy right-handed neutrino dark matter and PeV neutrinos at IceCube*, JCAP 08 (2016) 034 [arXiv:1606.04517].
- [170] N. Hiroshima, R. Kitano, K. Kohri and K. Murase, *High-energy neutrinos from multibody decaying dark matter*, *Phys. Rev. D* 97 (2018) 023006 [arXiv:1705.04419].
- [171] M. Chianese, G. Miele and S. Morisi, Interpreting IceCube 6-year HESE data as an evidence for hundred TeV decaying dark matter, Phys. Lett. B 773 (2017) 591 [arXiv:1707.05241].
- [172] G. Amelino-Camelia, J.R. Ellis, N.E. Mavromatos, D.V. Nanopoulos and S. Sarkar, *Tests of quantum gravity from observations of gamma-ray bursts*, *Nature* 393 (1998) 763 [astro-ph/9712103].
- [173] D. Hooper, D. Morgan and E. Winstanley, Lorentz and CPT invariance violation in high-energy neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 065009 [hep-ph/0506091].
- [174] M.C. Gonzalez-Garcia, F. Halzen and M. Maltoni, *Physics reach of high-energy and high-statistics IceCube atmospheric neutrino data*, *Phys. Rev. D* 71 (2005) 093010 [hep-ph/0502223].
- [175] L.A. Anchordoqui et al., Probing Planck scale physics with IceCube, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 065019 [hep-ph/0506168].
- [176] J.L. Bazo, M. Bustamante, A.M. Gago and O.G. Miranda, *High energy astrophysical neutrino flux and modified dispersion relations*, *Int. J. Mod. Phys. A* 24 (2009) 5819 [arXiv:0907.1979].
- [177] M. Bustamante, A.M. Gago and C. Pena-Garay, *Energy-independent new physics in the flavour ratios of high-energy astrophysical neutrinos*, *JHEP* 04 (2010) 066 [arXiv:1001.4878].
- [178] A. Kostelecky and M. Mewes, Neutrinos with Lorentz-violating operators of arbitrary dimension, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 096005 [arXiv:1112.6395].
- [179] J.S. Diaz, A. Kostelecky and M. Mewes, *Testing relativity with high-energy astrophysical neutrinos*, *Phys. Rev. D* 89 (2014) 043005 [arXiv:1308.6344].
- [180] F.W. Stecker, S.T. Scully, S. Liberati and D. Mattingly, Searching for traces of Planck-scale physics with high energy neutrinos, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 045009 [arXiv:1411.5889].
- [181] F.W. Stecker and S.T. Scully, Propagation of superluminal PeV IceCube neutrinos: a high energy spectral cutoff or new constraints on Lorentz invariance violation, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 043012 [arXiv:1404.7025].
- [182] G. Tomar, S. Mohanty and S. Pakvasa, Lorentz invariance violation and IceCube neutrino events, JHEP 11 (2015) 022 [arXiv:1507.03193].
- [183] J. Ellis, N.E. Mavromatos, A.S. Sakharov and E.K. Sarkisyan-Grinbaum, *Limits on neutrino Lorentz violation from multimessenger observations of TXS* 0506 + 056, *Phys. Lett. B* 789 (2019) 352 [arXiv:1807.05155].
- [184] R. Laha, Constraints on neutrino speed, weak equivalence principle violation, Lorentz invariance violation, and dual lensing from the first high-energy astrophysical neutrino source TXS 0506 + 056, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 103002 [arXiv:1807.05621].
- [185] J. Lykken, O. Mena and S. Razzaque, Ultrahigh-energy neutrino flux as a probe of large extra-dimensions, JCAP 12 (2007) 015 [arXiv:0705.2029].
- [186] K. Ioka and K. Murase, IceCube PeV–EeV neutrinos and secret interactions of neutrinos, PTEP 2014 (2014) 061E01 [arXiv:1404.2279].

- [187] K.C.Y. Ng and J.F. Beacom, Cosmic neutrino cascades from secret neutrino interactions, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 065035 [Erratum ibid. 90 (2014) 089904] [arXiv:1404.2288].
- [188] K. Blum, A. Hook and K. Murase, High energy neutrino telescopes as a probe of the neutrino mass mechanism, arXiv: 1408.3799.
- [189] W. Altmannshofer, C.-Y. Chen, P.S. Bhupal Dev and A. Soni, Lepton flavor violating Z' explanation of the muon anomalous magnetic moment, Phys. Lett. B 762 (2016) 389 [arXiv:1607.06832].
- [190] G. Barenboim, P.B. Denton and I.M. Oldengott, Constraints on inflation with an extended neutrino sector, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 083515 [arXiv:1903.02036].
- [191] G.A. Askar'yan, Excess negative charge of an electron-photon shower and its coherent radio emission, Sov. Phys. JETP 14 (1962) 441 [Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 41 (1961) 616].
- [192] PIERRE AUGER collaboration, Probing the radio emission from air showers with polarization measurements, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 052002 [arXiv:1402.3677].
- [193] P. Schellart et al., Polarized radio emission from extensive air showers measured with LOFAR, JCAP 10 (2014) 014 [arXiv:1406.1355].
- [194] A.L. Connolly and A.G. Vieregg, *Radio detection of high energy neutrinos*, in *Neutrino astronomy* — *current status, future prospects*, T. Gaisser and A. Karle eds., World Scientific, Singapore (2017), pg. 217 [arXiv:1607.08232].
- [195] D. García-Fernández, A. Nelles and C. Glaser, Signatures of secondary leptons in radio-neutrino detectors in ice, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 083011 [arXiv:2003.13442].
- [196] C. Glaser et al., NuRadioMC: simulating the radio emission of neutrinos from interaction to detector, Eur. Phys. J. C 80 (2020) 77 [arXiv:1906.01670].
- [197] J. Alvarez-Muniz, A. Romero-Wolf and E. Zas, *Practical and accurate calculations of Askaryan radiation*, *Phys. Rev. D* 84 (2011) 103003 [arXiv:1106.6283].
- [198] E. Zas, F. Halzen and T. Stanev, Electromagnetic pulses from high-energy showers: implications for neutrino detection, Phys. Rev. D 45 (1992) 362.
- [199] T. Barrella, S. Barwick and D. Saltzberg, Ross ice shelf in situ radio-frequency ice attenuation, J. Glaciol. 57 (2011) 61 [arXiv:1011.0477].
- [200] D.Z. Besson et al., In situ radioglaciological measurements near Taylor dome, antarctica and implications for UHE neutrino astronomy, Astropart. Phys. 29 (2008) 130 [astro-ph/0703413].
- [201] S. Barwick, D. Besson, P. Gorham and D. Saltzberg, South polar in situ radio-frequency ice attenuation, J. Glaciol. 51 (2005) 231.
- [202] S.W. Barwick et al., Observation of classically 'forbidden' electromagnetic wave propagation and implications for neutrino detection, JCAP 07 (2018) 055 [arXiv:1804.10430].
- [203] ARIANNA collaboration, *Targeting ultra-high energy neutrinos with the ARIANNA experiment*, *Adv. Space Res.* 64 (2019) 2595 [arXiv:1903.01609].
- [204] F.D. Kahn and I. Lerche, Radiation from cosmic ray air showers, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 289 (1966) 206.
- [205] H.R. Allan, Low frequency radio emission from extensive air showers, Nature 237 (1972) 384.
- [206] C. Welling, C. Glaser and A. Nelles, *Reconstructing the cosmic-ray energy from the radio signal measured in one single station*, JCAP 10 (2019) 075 [arXiv:1905.11185].

- [207] K. Mulrey et al., On the cosmic-ray energy scale of the LOFAR radio telescope, JCAP 11 (2020) 017 [arXiv:2005.13441].
- [208] K.D. de Vries, S. Buitink, N. van Eijndhoven, T. Meures, A. Ó Murchadha and O. Scholten, *The cosmic-ray air-shower signal in Askaryan Radio Detectors*, *Astropart. Phys.* 74 (2016) 96 [arXiv:1503.02808].
- [209] A. Nelles, S. Buitink, H. Falcke, J. Hörandel, T. Huege and P. Schellart, A parameterization for the radio emission of air showers as predicted by CoREAS simulations and applied to LOFAR measurements, Astropart. Phys. 60 (2015) 13 [arXiv:1402.2872].
- [210] ARIANNA collaboration, Performance of the ARIANNA hexagonal radio array, PoS(ICRC2015)1149 (2016) [arXiv:1509.00109].
- [211] J.E. Carlstrom et al., The 10 meter south pole telescope, Publ. Astron. Soc. Pac. 123 (2011) 568 [arXiv:0907.4445].
- [212] ICECUBE collaboration, The IceCube upgrade design and science goals, PoS(ICRC2019)1031 (2020) [arXiv:1908.09441].
- [213] L. Gerhardt et al., A prototype station for ARIANNA: a detector for cosmic neutrinos, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 624 (2010) 85 [arXiv:1005.5193].
- [214] J. Avva et al., Development toward a ground-based interferometric phased array for radio detection of high energy neutrinos, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 869 (2017) 46 [arXiv:1605.03525].
- [215] U.S. Ice Drilling Program, Agile sub-ice geological drill operations and maintenance manual, https://icedrill.org/library/agile-sub-ice-geological-drill-operations-and-maintenance-manual, (2019).
- [216] C. Glaser et al., NuRadioReco: a reconstruction framework for radio neutrino detectors, Eur. Phys. J. C 79 (2019) 464 [arXiv:1903.07023].
- [217] ARA collaboration, *First constraints on the ultra-high energy neutrino flux from a prototype station of the Askaryan Radio Array, Astropart. Phys.* **70** (2015) 62 [arXiv:1404.5285].
- [218] A. Romero-Wolf et al., An interferometric analysis method for radio impulses from ultra-high energy particle showers, Astropart. Phys. 60 (2015) 72.
- [219] S.I. Dutta, M.H. Reno, I. Sarcevic and D. Seckel, Propagation of muons and taus at high-energies, Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 094020 [hep-ph/0012350].
- [220] J.-H. Koehne et al., PROPOSAL: a tool for propagation of charged leptons, Comput. Phys. Commun. 184 (2013) 2070.
- [221] T.K. Gaisser, D. Soldin, A. Crossman and A. Fedynitch, Precision of analytical approximations in calculations of atmospheric leptons, PoS(ICRC2019)893 (2020) [arXiv:1910.08676].
- [222] H.P. Dembinski, R. Engel, A. Fedynitch, T. Gaisser, F. Riehn and T. Stanev, *Data-driven model of the cosmic-ray flux and mass composition from* 10 GeV to 10¹¹ GeV, PoS(ICRC2017)533 (2018) [arXiv:1711.11432].
- [223] J.M. Roberts et al., *LAB4D: a low power, multi-GSa/s, transient digitizer with sampling timebase trimming capabilities, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A* **925** (2019) 92 [arXiv:1803.04600].
- [224] UNAVCO, Remote station engineering power systems, https://www.unavco.org/projects/project-support/polar/remote/power/power.html, (2014) [Accessed July 2019].

- [225] K. Steffen, J. Box and W. Abdalati, *Greenland climate network: GC-net*, CRREL special report, U.S. Army Cold Regions Reattach and Engineering (CRREL), (1996), pg. 98.
- [226] NOAA, Global monitoring laboratory, https://www.esrl.noaa.gov/gmd/dv/data.html, (2020).
- [227] LoRA alliance, LoRaWAN specification v.1.03, (2018).
- [228] British Antarctic Survey (BAS), private communication.
- [229] J.A. Johnson et al., A new 122 mm electromechanical drill for Deep Ice-Sheet Coring (DISC): 5. Experience during Greenland field testing, Annals Glaciol. 47 (2007) 54.
- [230] A. Corstanje et al., *Timing calibration and spectral cleaning of LOFAR time series data*, *Astron. Astrophys.* **590** (2016) A41 [arXiv:1603.08354].
- [231] PIERRE AUGER collaboration, Nanosecond-level time synchronization of autonomous radio detector stations for extensive air showers, 2016 JINST 11 P01018 [arXiv:1512.02216].
- [232] P. Meade, jade: an end-to-end data transfer and catalog tool, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 898 (2017) 062050.
- [233] T. Huege, M. Ludwig and C.W. James, *Simulating radio emission from air showers with CoREAS*, *AIP Conf. Proc.* **1535** (2013) 128 [arXiv:1301.2132].
- [234] J. Alvarez-Muniz, W.R. Carvalho, Jr. and E. Zas, Monte Carlo simulations of radio pulses in atmospheric showers using ZHAireS, Astropart. Phys. 35 (2012) 325 [arXiv:1107.1189].
- [235] PIERRE AUGER collaboration, Advanced functionality for radio analysis in the offline software framework of the Pierre Auger observatory, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 635 (2011) 92 [arXiv:1101.4473].
- [236] K. Dookayka, Characterizing the search for ultra-high energy neutrinos with the ARIANNA detector, Ph.D. thesis, University of California, Irvine, CA, U.S.A. (2011).
- [237] ANITA collaboration, The simulation of the sensitivity of the antarctic impulsive transient antenna (ANITA) to Askaryan radiation from cosmogenic neutrinos interacting in the antarctic ice, 2019 JINST 14 P08011 [arXiv:1903.11043].
- [238] B. Hokanson-Fasig, Design studies for the Radio Neutrino Observatory (RNO), PoS(ICRC2019)913 (2020).
- [239] REMCOM, XFdtd 3D electromagnetic simulation software, https://www.remcom.com/xfdtd-3d-em-simulation-software, (2020).
- [240] J. Alvarez-Muñiz, P.M. Hansen, A. Romero-Wolf and E. Zas, Askaryan radiation from neutrino-induced showers in ice, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 083005 [arXiv:2003.09705].
- [241] PIERRE AUGER collaboration, Improved limit to the diffuse flux of ultrahigh energy neutrinos from the Pierre Auger observatory, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 092008 [arXiv:1504.05397].
- [242] ICECUBE collaboration, A measurement of the diffuse astrophysical muon neutrino flux using eight years of IceCube data, PoS(ICRC2017)1005 (2017) [arXiv:1710.01191].
- [243] G.J. Feldman and R.D. Cousins, A unified approach to the classical statistical analysis of small signals, Phys. Rev. D 57 (1998) 3873 [physics/9711021].
- [244] L.D. Landau and I. Pomeranchuk, *Limits of applicability of the theory of bremsstrahlung electrons and pair production at high-energies*, *Dokl. Akad. Nauk Ser. Fiz.* **92** (1953) 535.
- [245] A.B. Migdal, Bremsstrahlung and pair production in condensed media at high-energies, Phys. Rev. 103 (1956) 1811.

- [246] L. Gerhardt and S.R. Klein, *Electron and photon interactions in the regime of strong LPM suppression*, *Phys. Rev. D* 82 (2010) 074017 [arXiv:1007.0039].
- [247] M. Selig et al., NIFTY numerical information field theory. A versatile Python library for signal inference, Astron. Astrophys. 554 (2013) A26 [arXiv:1301.4499].
- [248] J. Yang et al., *GRB* 200415A: a short gamma-ray burst from a magnetar giant flare?, arXiv:2010.05128.
- [249] S. van Velzen et al., Seventeen tidal disruption events from the first half of ZTF survey observations: entering a new era of population studies, Astrophys. J. 908 (2021) 4 [arXiv:2001.01409].
- [250] ICECUBE collaboration, *IceCube*-190730A *IceCube observation of a high-energy neutrino candidate event*, *GRB Coord. Network* **25225** (2019) 1.
- [251] A. Franckowiak et al., *Patterns in the multiwavelength behavior of candidate neutrino blazars*, *Astrophys. J.* **893** (2020) 162 [arXiv:2001.10232].